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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” and each a “Director’)
of CircuTech International Holdings Limited collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to CircuTech
International Holdings Limited. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased to report that CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) generated
positive operational and financial results for shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) during the year ended 31 December 2019 with net profit
of approximately HK$2.5 million, representing a swing of HK$17.1 million as
compared to net loss of approximately HK$14.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 increased by
11.3% to approximately HK$332.9 million.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our growth and positive results were attributable to a combination of solid
business strategy and acumen, enhanced operational and execution efficiency,
and increase in products offering and customer base. The Group’s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$332.9 million, representing an approximately
11.83% increase as compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2018.
The Group recorded an increase in gross profit margin from 5.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to 7.1% for the year ended 31 December
2019 which was mainly due to the Group’s continued efforts in fine-tuning
its strategies and re-evaluating its business model, client and product mix so
as to achieve a higher profit margin in the long run. Administrative expenses
decreased by 22.8%, which was mainly due to a better foreign currency
exchange control, reduction of the Group’s professional fee expenses and
strengthened control over operations.

OUTLOOK

We expect the Group will face keen competition in the IT product distribution
business and the management will closely monitor the IT product distribution
business and may adjust the Group’s business portfolio if necessary. The
Group will also allocate more resources to ramp up the repair and service
support business portfolio in a bid to gain better recurring returns to the
Shareholders. This might entail providing repair services of electronic products
for renowned IT brands and their service centers.

As previously reported, we are continuously strengthening our management
team, expanding our international footprint and broadening our customer base;
and we anticipate additional fundraising may from time to time be required to
support the working capital expenditure for such business growth. This entails
investment in expanding and revamping overseas organisation structure, and
potential capital expenditures if it is deemed to strategically enhance our
capabilities.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our Shareholders and business
partners for their continuous support, and to my fellow Directors, our
management and all our staff members for their work. Looking ahead, | will
be dedicated to leading the Board to continue the rejuvenation journey in this
coming financial year, and we appreciate your continuous support.

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Sales and distribution of IT products

The Group offers a comprehensive and broad range of video surveillance
products which have unique technologies, including five layers hacker
resistance and best-in-class video compression technology sold under its
own brand name. These technologies are complementary to one another, and
provide customers dedicated cost efficient solutions. The Group directly and
indirectly competes with large global vendors in form of pricing, information
technology and range of services. Nevertheless, the Group will closely
monitor the market in order to strengthen its market position and to improve
profitability.

Since 2017, the Group addressed the commoditisation of video surveillance
systems by broadening its products offering through distribution of third-party
IT products. The Group signed an agreement with a renowned IT brand to
distribute third party IT products through its well-established wholesale network
covering the North America, Asia, Europe, Middle East and Africa. The third-
party IT products are refurbished and end-of-life units, thus the Company
extends the life of these products in the post-sales circular economy. During
the year, the Group has diversified and grown its customer base to reduce
customer concentration risk. The percentage of annual sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer and five largest customers decreased from 50.9% to
27.0% and from 82.9% to 70.7% respectively. In addition, the Group developed
its online trade-in platform and cooperated with a renowned IT brand as its
trade-in partner for certain smart devices. The Group’s advantages to compete
against other global distributors are management’s expertise and proven track
record, together with being a member of the Foxconn Technology Group that
has strong business bond with this renowned IT brand. The Group will continue
to manage its tied up working capital by improving the inventory turnover days
and mitigating the inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash conversion
cycle.

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is recognised at a point
in time when control of the products has transferred, being at the point the
products are delivered to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.
There is only one performance obligation. Delivery occurs when the products
have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered and the customers
have accepted the products, as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continueq)

Sales and distribution of IT products (continued)

During the period, the Group continued to review and re-evaluate its business
model, with an aim to improve efficiency, and achieve a higher profit margin in
the long run. The Group will continue to closely monitor the market situations
and make necessary adjustments to its strategies and operations.

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

The Group provides full range of after sales maintenance for video surveillance
products carrying its own brand name. Smart device applications were also
developed by the Group to provide remote control and monitoring of the
video surveillance products. As an extension of the Group’s repair and service
support segment, the Group is liaising with potential customers for provision of
repair services.

Subsequent to the year end, the Group entered into a continuing connected
transaction with a subsidiary of the Company’s controlling shareholders for
provision of certain repair services for the fulfilment of customers need. The
Group will also consider setting up its own maintenance center in China after
considering relevant costs, expected return and efficiency in providing the
repair services.

For sales of services, the Group has determined that for contracts with
customers under service support, there is only one performance obligation. For
the provision of services, revenue is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered to customers as the Group
determined that the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

Segment information by business line

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products continued to be the largest source of income which
accounted for approximately 99.9% of the revenue. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group continued to achieve rapid growth in the segment
of sales and distribution of IT products and the revenue generated from this
segment increased by approximately 11.3% as compared to that of the year
ended 31 December 2018. The revenue from sales and distribution of IT
products consisted of third-party IT products and video surveillance products
carrying our own brand name. The growth in this segment was attributable
to increase in volume of goods sold driven by expanded range of third-party
branded products offerings.

8 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continueq)

Segment information by business line (continued)
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The majority of the repairs and services support revenue was generated from
the supporting services for video surveillance products carrying our own brand
name. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue from repairs
and service support segment slightly decreased by approximately 5.0% as
compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2018.

RFEtEgS s 2o EER Segment information by geographical location
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IS North America 136,437 189,990
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332,884 299,109
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the North America, Asia and Europe
continued to be the top three markets of the Group in terms of their respective
contribution to the revenue of the Group. The North America market continued
to be the largest market of the Group which contributed approximately 41.0%
(2018: 63.5%) of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Asia overtook Europe and became the second largest market of the Group
which contributed approximately 31.4% (2018: 12.7%) of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2019. Europe contributed 27.3% (2018:
23.2%) of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
change in the composition of the revenue was due to the change of product
mix driven by the demand and supply of the IT products in each of the
geographical location.
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the foundation and experience of the management team in
international distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer
electronics products offering in multi-jurisdictions that are complementary to
its current business offering. The third-party IT products include computer,
communications and consumer electronics (the “3C Products”) which are
refurbished and end-of-life units. Through the Group’s international distribution
channels, the Group extends the 3C Products useful life in the post-sales
circular economy.

The Group also launched several new products, including MP4000 Series —
Network IR Cameras with Al Detection, AF Starlight Series, WS9000 Series
— 4K Digital Video Recorder with Al Detection and certain new cameras
to strengthen the Group’s product portfolio and enhance the Group’s
competitiveness in the market. A unique hacker resistant technology is
incorporated into a range of product which is designed to prevent hackers from
extracting confidential video data from security camera, giving users a peace of
mind.

BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to keep up with technological changes in
the video surveillance industry in order to remain competitive

The Group has continuously invested in research and development to develop
updates and new products in order to maintain the Group’s competitive edge
in the market. The performance of the Group depends on the Group’s ability to
develop updates to its existing products and to develop new products, which
in turn is determined by the Group’s research efforts to develop technologies
which keep up with the latest technological trends in the industry and the
Group’s timely recruitment of personnel with the relevant skills. The effect of
emerging and future technological changes in relation to product specifications
to the Group’s research and development plans or the level of technologies is
unpredictable.

In addition, our competitors may develop technologies and products that are
superior to ours in terms of quality and/or price. Failure to respond to the
technological developments and maintain or enhance our competitiveness
within the industry or maintain our customer base may result in decrease in
profit margins and loss of market share, and our financial performance and
profitability may be adversely affected.
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BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

(continued)

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations

The Group maintains insurance policies against loss or damage to its office
and business interruption, public liability and employees’ compensation. The
insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all the risks associated with
the Group’s business and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured
loss or a loss in excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural
disasters and other events beyond the Group’s control, the Group may be
required to pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial conditions and
results of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the Group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the Group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the Group considers that the current insurance coverage
is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the Group will review its
insurance policies from time to time.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group expects to face keen competition in the IT product distribution
business and the management will closely monitor the IT product distribution
business and may adjust the Group’s business portfolio in a bid to
increase customer base and generate better and more stable returns to the
Shareholders.

In order to diversify the business portfolio of the Group and to avoid over-
concentration on a single business segment, given the current contribution of
the repairs and service support segment to the overall revenue of the Group,
the Group believes that there is plenty of room for growth of the repairs and
service support segment. The Group has planned to set up a new overseas
repair center. The Group has recently attracted a new customer which is a
renowned industrial company headquartered in the US. It is expected that
the new customer will generate recurring business and it may have a positive
impact on the Group’s revenue.

The Group will continuously strengthen the management team, expand the
international footprint and broaden its customer base. The management
anticipates additional fundraising may from time to time be required to
support the working capital expenditure for such business growth. This entails
investment in expanding and revamping overseas organization structure, and
potential capital expenditures if it is deemed to strategically enhance our
capabilities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and ii) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$332,884,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019, representing an increase of approximately 11.3% as
compared to that of approximately HK$299,109,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018. The business volume growth was attributable to expanded
range of third-party branded products offerings.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In
line with the increase in business volume, the cost of sales for the year
ended 31 December 2019 increased to approximately HK$309,201,000,
representing an increase of approximately 8.8%, as compared to that of
approximately HK$284,271,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Group has strengthened its inventory management control, as a result, a
reversal of provision of inventories (included in the cost of sales) amounted to
approximately HK$51,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019 as opposed to a net provision of approximately HK$1,517,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$8,845,000 to approximately
HK$23,683,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was in line
with the business volume growth. Moreover, the overall gross profit margin
increased from 5.0% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to 7.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2019 which was mainly due to the Group’s continued
efforts in fine-tuning its strategies and re-evaluating its business model, client
and product mix so as to achieve a higher profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses slightly increased to approximately
HK$6,079,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. A major component
of the selling and distribution expenses was staff costs, commission and
warehousing charges.

12 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ERESmRAIM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B ¥ B B8 (2)
53¢ 3

BHE-_Z-—NAE+-_A=+—BLEE TKER
A #I22.8%F #917,047,0008 T (=T — \ &
22,081,000 ) - BEREXERAREIEERARMD
Rohnse ¥ E KRG KB EEERF RIEF R A
M NEBASERERRCEERSE-

FRMAF,FEER

HE-_ZT—hWhErRZT-—NF+_A=+—HIEF
[ REE S B85 45 F) 492,489,000/ 7t K F B 1B 4
14,606,000 L - BN EFTZEEARBE_Z—H
F+-_A=t+—BLE=AREERKERFBERERM
BRIS AR - AKEERE  FHUEERF G N IRFAH
REBZEERENMBEZLAEBEBEE-_T—NFNLA
=THIENEARZHBEEBRAE —SHNERTELER - A&
EREBEE-_T—NFAA=THILLNERSBSERNL
259,000 L - HE-T—NF+_A=+—HLEFE
ZEBRAENR10.628 (ZF—/\F : GRE1E62.31
L) e

FEREWIRN

RZE—NAFF+ZA=+—"HB FEKFEEEYD
30,849,000 L (ZTE—N\NEFE+=_A=+—H:
12,327,000/87T) - A EBEREZBERTFERERY
HEFEEEZEN - RBEZE-_T—NAF+=-_A=1+—
BIEFE FTERAEBREA255K(ZE—N\F:74.4
R) e

RZE-NAF+_A=+—H EBEERIEELD
992,000 T (ZE—N\F+=-H=+—H :5,801,000
BIL) ARBEBRBREER TEPHNEERE -RAF
ER AEEEFHEFRIFEETS ML BERAEA
& UK AR SRORL (B @

TEPBRR

BENAFHRAZS LS EEE RRAEEAE
EAPRFER SBEHBRFE G PERTE
RERM R E HEBHAIERET WA RN - N
SERBEB2IZFV BB E B AU BA
SEAFE 2 MBRA -

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2019, administrative expenses
decreased by approximately 22.8% to approximately HK$17,047,000 (2018:
HK$22,081,000). The improvement was mainly attributable to decrease in
professional fee, strengthened control over operations which streamlined
operating procedures and increased the cost efficiency to achieve better
performance for the continuous development of the Group.

Net profit/loss for the year

The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$2,489,000 and net loss
of approximately HK$14,606,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018. The improvement was mainly attributable to the net profit for the three
months ended 31 December 2019 due to increased in business volume and
profit margin. The Group considers that the increase in profitability in the fourth
quarter is generally in line with and comparable with the financial figures of
the Group for the nine months ended 30 September 2019 as disclosed in the
quarterly report of the Group. The Group recorded a net profit of approximately
HK$259,000 for the nine months ended 30 September 2019. The earning per
share for the year ended 31 December 2019 was HK cents 10.62 (2018: loss
per share of HK cents 62.31).

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2019, the inventory level increased to approximately
HK$30,849,000 (31 December 2018: HK$12,327,000). The Group continued to
improve its inventory management control by monitoring the inventory turnover
days. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the inventory turnover days was
25.5 days (2018: 74.4 days).

Trade receivables reduced to approximately HK$992,000 as at 31 December
2019 (31 December 2018: HK$5,801,000). The Group maintains strict control
on credit line granted to customers. During the year, customers of the Group
maintain good credit history and no material impairment of trade receivables is
recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they represent a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. It shall consider, the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

= the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

= the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

= the general market conditions; and

= any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Laws of Cayman lIslands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulation.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2019, the Group employed 24 (31 December 2018: 26)
full time employees in Hong Kong and 11 (31 December 2018: 12) full time
employees in the People’s Republic of China and overseas offices. The staff
costs of the Group, including directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and
commission, retirement benefits schemes contributions and other benefits
amounted to approximately HK$13,384,000 for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: HK$12,890,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual's responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance, retirement
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

A share option scheme had been approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources and net proceeds from the rights
issue completed on 20 October 2017 (the “Rights Issue”). As at 31 December
2019, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$110,334,000 (31
December 2018: HK$107,206,000) and cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$63,021,000 (31 December 2018: HK$72,369,000). The
Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio, which is calculating on the basis
of total debts over total equity of the Group, was 13.0% (31 December 2018:
12.4%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 23,433,783 shares were in issue. No convertible securities
options, warrants or similar rights by the Company or its subsidiaries were
outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2019.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any new significant investments during the year ended
31 December 2019.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, a bank deposit of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,220,000) (31 December 2018: US$4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$31,220,000)) was pledged to a bank for the bank facility
amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,440,000)
granted to the Group. Such bank facility was drawn by the Group to issue a
standby letter of credit to a vendor in the financial year ended 31 December
2019.
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FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Rights Issue”
of this report, to continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its
international distribution and fulfilment capabilities, the Group may, depending
on circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising
and/or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, US and Europe with most
of the transactions settled in HK$, United States dollars (“USD”) and Euro. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD and Euro. The Management has a policy to manage the
foreign exchange risk against the functional currencies of the Group. It mainly
includes managing the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and would consider the use
of foreign exchange contracts to manage our foreign exchange risks, where
appropriate. The Group did not enter into any derivative financial instruments
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes during the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

16 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ERESmRAIM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HERAEBRERE

AEEBR-_T—+tF+A-THTHRER ELMHME
PR FERA)08,428,0008 L - K2EZE R/ T —LF
NAZHRBZBHEBHA-ZE-NAF=ZA-1+N\
BZRE FEREBEZHRERELAERIBZERA

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

The Group completed the Rights Issue on 20 October 2017 resulting in net
proceeds of approximately HK$98,428,000. With reference to the circular
dated 26 September 2017 and the announcement dated 28 March 2018, the
details of the proposed use of proceeds and the actual use of proceeds are as
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As previously disclosed in the announcement dated 28 March 2018, HK$50
million of the proceeds from the Rights Issue originally intended for “the
expansion of the repairs and service support business” (Service Support
Business) was reallocated to the “development of IT products trading business”
(Distribution Business).

Up to 31 December 2019, an accumulated amount of approximately
HK$2,166,000 has been applied to expand the Group’s existing repairs and
service support business. Certain oversea entities and offices have been
incorporated and set up. The Group is negotiating with a potential customer
and anticipates that the Group will commence taking orders in the third quarter
in 2020. The Group is also strengthening its IT system in meeting the upcoming
development of the repairs and service support business.

Up to 31 December 2019, the proceeds of HK$73,000,000 for the

development of the Group’s existing IT products trading business were fully
utilised.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE (continueq)

Up to 31 December 2019, the proceeds of HK$17,800,000 for the strategic
investment in the business segment of “circular economy” were fully utilised.
The Group completed an acquisition of 21% of the issued share capital
of 4Square Return GmbH. 4Square Return GmbH engaged in compliance
consulting, the provision of take back services and value recycling economy
for the electronics industry. The Group considers that such investment would
enable the Group to enhance its exposure in green technology and enhance the
Group’s business profile.

The Directors considered that the net proceeds were applied in accordance
with the intended uses as previously disclosed.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (;## %) (“Mr. Hong"), aged 64, was re-designated as
an executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board on 31 May
2019. Mr. Hong is the chief financial officer of New PCEBG, a business group
of Hon Hai, and the supervisor of HONGFUJIN Precision Industry (Wuhan)
Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Hon Hai. Mr. Hong was previously a senior financial
director in Philips group between 1979 and 2003, where he was responsible for
finance and accounting for the administration division of the aforesaid company
in Chungli, Taiwan. Mr. Hong holds a master’'s degree in the Department of
EMBA in the National Chengchi University of Taiwan.

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (£ X&) (“Mr. Tsai”), aged 58, was appointed as
an executive Director on 31 May 2019. Mr. Tsai is the strategic investment
and planning consultant of New PCEBG, a business group of Hon Hai. He
was previously the group chief operating officer of Noah Holdings Limited, a
leading Chinese private wealth management firm listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, from 2012 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Tsai was the chief operating
officer and executive vice president of Yuanta Securities, a top securities
firm in Taiwan, from 2008 to 2011 and the North Asia chief operating officer
of RBS&ABN AMRO from 1997 to 2008. Between 1989 and 1997, Mr. Tsai
worked for leading financial institutions such as American Express Financial
Advisors and Household Finance Corporation in the United States. Mr. Tsai
holds a master’s degree in chemical engineering from University of Southern
California and a master’s degree in business administration from University of
lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United States.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (BR& ) (‘Ms. Chen”), aged 57, was appointed as
an executive Director on 10 June 2016. She is a senior director of Hon Hai
and the Head of its Global Service Solutions Division. She was previously a
manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. during 2003 and 2007, where she was
responsible for cost management for the Global Service Solutions Division
in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka Software,
developer from 1997 to 2001 where she was primarily responsible for

Inc. as a software

developing software resources management systems. Ms. Chen was previously
a researcher in the Department of Meteorology in the University of Utah
between 1995 to 1996 and an associate researcher at the Central Weather
Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a postgraduate
degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University in 1987.

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (& &) (‘Mr. Han”), aged 36, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief financial officer on 31 May 2019. He is the finance
manager of New PCEBG, a business group of Hon Hai. Mr. Han worked in
a managerial grade position in the assurance department of an international
accounting firm from 2006 to 2008. He was previously the finance manager of
Ever-Island Group, where he was responsible for finance and accounting work
of the abovementioned company in Suzhou and Dongguan, China. Mr. Han
holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from National Chengchi University
in Taiwan and a master’s degree in financial engineering from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Annual Report 2019 F 19



EF LANEREREEABBN

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

FBTES

ERERE([EEE] 51 R-ZTE—NAFHA
=+ REZAAERTEZ -HRNET HEREM
R TEREIFEAB mEEB i AZEERER
BAEBRAR (BRMDASE 1037  ERMHRE R AT ER L
MZHTEZ - FE T AFERETETERESE
ErEaH srERREERTEATKRAXNEE
H(PCEBGzETRERER HEABKBRARFE
B (PCEBQ)A—HAEE X LB aEHEHRE
RtEEER (BTREAMRRSE) 5 TEEEG2
AE A SALERETREEETZERE &
BEUAEEN BEHEBHEY 2RRFPEBER
ERLREERE EH BErAMEREATFZEME
REB SLtERBEMNBRERBEERFBRAZIER
RETREEBELENREBEYRNASTER:
BB B B o

BYFHITES

BREERE (TBEE]) 62 R_-T—XRFXAT
FEZEABUFATEZ MR _FT——F_HZF
—E-N\FRARBTEEZEERBR AR (BB
FRETRA RDARI:0145) BUIERITEEZ 15
TERARER/ARNBEREBLBURBTBAREER
REXB - BR—BBESSEREM - HEEKRH
XEMBEF REIAFTHREMITZABABE
SRR TEFEARREEBRAA (BGEMLEH A
Al RO 8272) B IEMITEE -

ZH|BEE ([FERE]) 61 RZE—tF+A
—REZERBIUFNTEF FTEERFAMERR
BRI AEHELTEURFRMAKBEAEZT
HEBELEU FRERRBIA ML EEMER
S EEE - FRAEESH AU REE T EESR
CELR -FERERMABCERERRR L ESET
KA H 2 = A B AL B FETowona Media Holding
Company Limited » News Corporation Limited * Pepsi-
Cola International &z Apple Computer International
Limited e TR ETFEREBERBZEEE Bl ERE
&l 5+ =R 12 2 & B0 A FTMS Training Systems (HK)
LtafEBRBEFRF AR A A S Z S TAHRIE 2 FRB
A o

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kao Chao Yang ( § 8 ¥) (“Mr. Kao”), aged 51, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 May 2019. He has over 21 years of experience
in the electronic, manufacturing and information technology industry. Mr. Kao
is currently an executive director of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(Stock code: 1037), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He has been the vice-president of Foxconn Technology Group
since 2015. Mr. Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations of New
PCEBG, which is both a key business and strategic division responsible for
driving initiatives across several significant areas of manufacturing and supply
chain management (fulfillment and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr.
Kao held various duties within Foxconn Group including start-up manufacturing
sites, directing supply chain operations, business account management with
global customer presence and administering information technology initiatives
across China, US, Czech Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of
Science in industrial & operations engineering from the University of Michigan
in the United States of America and a Bachelor of Science in industrial design
from Cheng-Kung University in Taiwan.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (152 ) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was
independent non-executive director of The Hong Kong Building and Loan
Agency Limited (stock code: 0145), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from February 2011 to June 2018. Mr. Yeung holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung has been a practicing solicitor for over 29 years
and a partner of Messrs Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Yeung
is currently also an independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and
Beverage Group Limited (stock code: 8272), a company listed on GEM.

Mr. Li, Robin Kit Ling (Z=#%) (‘Mr. Li"), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia,
Canada and a degree of Master of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management. He had held senior positions in accounting and
finance in large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media
Holding Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International,
and Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (HK) Ltd for the
preparatory ACCA examination courses.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (EZ ) (“Mr. Miao”), aged 45, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director and Head of Corporate Finance at the Hong Kong Branch of
Cathay United Bank and is responsible for its international investment banking
business. Mr. Miao was formerly a Senior Portfolio Manager with the Dutch
pension asset manager APG Asset Management Asia and was responsible
for originating, structuring and executing direct and fund investments in Asia-
Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao was an investment director with the China-
ASEAN Fund where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing
direct private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked
previously as a Vice President at Citigroup within its Investment Banking and
Fixed Income divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has
a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic
University — Pomona, and an MBA from Pennsylvania State University. He is
also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (FE&l%) (“Mr. Tam”), aged 32, is the financial controller
of the Group since May 2017. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting,
financial control matters, and corporate secretarial matters of the Group. Mr.
Tam has more than nine years of experience in accounting and auditing fields in
Hong Kong since 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in a managerial
grade position in the assurance department of an international accounting firm.
Mr. Tam obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from University of New
South Wales, Australia, in August 2010. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ka Ho (X %) (‘Mr. Ho"), aged 48, is the chief executive officer of
the video surveillance business line. Mr. Ho has over 25 years of experience in
computer architecture, software engineering and digital signal processing. Mr.
Ho obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in computer engineering with
first class honours and master of science degree in electronic engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2019 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 62 to 63.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to HK$73,000 (2018: HK$15,000).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No shares were issued in the year ended 31 December 2019. Reference is
made to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2019 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$114,435,000
(2018: HK$118,956,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

22 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



EFERS
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

T FMBEBRE

AEEBETAMBFEREZEEUNREERAGBRBR
BMEHNANFRFE168E

EEgEOES

MBARANAFEMEREEEMNARAMRD -

BRREE

ARBR=ZFT-—RF+—A+-HBTZERREBFK
SERM-AERESE - BRESFEEAERS Rk
BHREFHIAR RAKERE (2BMFER) B
mAA BE OHEE AR H#HER KB TP
BEEHERBHERREHBINEBARESAEEH
EBRILES-

ExgnaRBREARREANERN  AAKEEM
BE (ZRZFRE) EF HHAXBEERIAKEE
MEEBRRIAKEEMAD HE HEE - HEFH K
B BEP BEBHARBHEHELELE URE
BREFSH 2 GIABESSAREEETHRA 2RO -

RBERE RO ZEMFERBREZBRNABEE
HEFEIRETYBMN2EE BASERTI&K
BEORMPRBRERLD B (BEREER) R
R RMERMBETE: (RONBEBRER
HEHIRT R A XA AR E R RERARL T
Yo rim {8 ¢ Bk (iii) B fn O B A A 3 th B B 2 T ME -

BERHB S ILERA21E A BEA - BREERE
S REM2EERL ZEBRE (BRECTERERT
02 BB AL ) AT M 31T K T &HIT 2 It 488k 1
SHERBEHETRMNZ1% - EAEIIMRHEBERZ LR 2
BREBAKERNBRRAE ESTHE  ZEARAR
HEZBEA (KEBBEA  HZEARARBBEAL)
ARRRE-

REBREZZORMELEEZNEHT (BEER)
EEARER BREARABRREAZORRE D
B ERADE 1B

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 168 of the annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the
Company'’s shares during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think
fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
the Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine
in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant if options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 11
November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November 2026.
Under the said scheme and following the Share Consolidation, the maximum
number of shares of the Company that may be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted is 1,673,841 shares, representing approximately
7.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman)
(re-designated as executive director and chairman on 31 May 2019)
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 31 May 2019)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
(appointed on 31 May 2019)
Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis (resigned on 31 May 2019)
Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang (resigned on 31 May 2019)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang (appointed on 31 May 2019)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis and Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang resigned as an
executive Director with effect from 31 May 2019. They confirmed that they
has no disagreement with the Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the
Company needed to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann and Mr. Han Chun-Wei are executive Directors and were
appointed for a one year term expiring on 31 May 2020. The appointment shall
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by giving to the
other not less than three months’ notice in writing. Each of them is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Kao Chao Yang is non-executive Director and was appointed for a one
year term expiring on 31 May 2020. The appointment is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann, Mr. Han Chun-Wei and Mr. Kao Chao Yang who were
appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies shall be subject to re-
election by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan and Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling will retire from office by
rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article
87(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three month’s
notice in writing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a
party and in which a Director of the Company and the Director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2019 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any rights
to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on
pages 19 to 21 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As of 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, and chief executive of the
Company is interested in or has short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debenture of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required under Divisions 7
and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or which were required under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Long position in Shares as at 31 December 2019

#5/ LR NN

BEERZ BRITRE

BRREZR g7 R4 EE Bt (H4)

Percentage

of the issued

share capital

Number of of the

shares held/ Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)

Foxconn (Far East) Limited Beneficial owner 11,853,524 50.58%
Foxconn (Far East) Limited BEmEA A

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 11,853,524 50.58%

BEBERIEXRNHER QA

g Nk

Biat -

Note:

Foxconn (Far East) Limited 2% /8% TR MDAER AR (—H
RAEFMKZZRRERAEBEZ A ET (RO :
2817.TW) ) 2 2 EM B ARl - BIBEH REEIEH - BEEE
T B AR A IR AR Foxconn (Far East) Limited## 8 2
KRR PHER -

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd., a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
shares of the Company held by Foxconn (Far East) Limited under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continueq)

Long position in Shares as at 31 December 2019 (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 47.31%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 99.87%
Sales
— the largest customer 26.97%
— five largest customers in aggregate 70.71%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, who owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 is contained in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of the transactions described
therein falls under the definition of connected transactions which are not
fully exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure

requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Subsequent to the year ended date, the Group entered into a continuing
connected transaction with a subsidiary of the Company’s controlling
shareholder. For details, please refer to announcement dated 14 January 2020
and 5 February 2020 and circular dated 12 February 2020.
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SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or one of
its subsidiaries on one hand, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for the year ended 31 December
2019. There was also no other contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during or at the end of the same period.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, controlling
shareholder or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or may compete either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 45.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout this year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and
regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its
key stakeholders.

OTHER EVENTS

Change of address of Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office

With effect from 11 July 2019, the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office of the Company, Tricor Tengis Limited has been changed to
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) continues to spread across the
world.

The COVID-19 has impact on the business operations of the Group and the

degree of the impact depends on the situation of the epidemic preventive
measures and the duration of the epidemic.
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EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

The Group will monitor the developments of COVID-19 situation closely, assess
and react actively to its impacts on the financial position and operating results
of the Group. Up to the date of the report, the assessment is still in progress.

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, the related impact on our
Group’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial condition
could not be reasonably estimated at this stage and will be reflected in the
Group’s 2020 interim and annual financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set
out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and page 7 respectively of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial key
performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 7 to 18 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Messrs HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited retired as auditor of the Company
upon expiration of its term of office at the 2016 annual general meeting (“2016
AGM”) on 10 May 2017. PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”) was appointed as
auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy and their appointment was approved
by Shareholders at 2016 AGM.

PwC has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 5 July 2019.
BDO Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from & July 2019 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of PwC
and to hold the office as auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 have been audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020

CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing the
Group's strategic decisions and monitoring of the business and performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group.

As of the date of this report, the Board currently comprises of 8 Directors,
consisting of 4 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3
independent non-executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are
listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
(chairman of the Board and member of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann
(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

An updated list of Directors is published on the websites of the Company and
GEM. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communication pursuant to Code Provision A.3.1. of Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continueq)

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the various committees of the Company as
detailed above.

Nomination and Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional directors or to fill casual vacancies.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination Committee
may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from
shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:—

- character and integrity of the candidate;
= educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are

relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

= time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidates; and

the board diversity policy of the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The board diversity policy is put into place
aiming to set out some guidelines for the composition of the Board in order
to achieve diversity in the Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board
composition measurable by objective criteria, including gender, age, length of
services in the Group, educational background and professional qualifications.
Given the nature of the business of the Group, the Company considers that
it is beneficial for the Board to have some members with experience and
qualification in the information technology industry, in addition to members with
financial and legal qualification.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continueq)

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarised as follows:

ExapgEaz it
Board Diversity

B HITES FHTES BUFHITES
Designation Executive Director NED Independent Non-Executive Director
!/ | /' ' | |
51 1 pogid
Gender Female
PRl 3140 41-50

BRAE IR (5F)
Length of Service (Year)

HEES

Educational background

Postgraduate Undergraduate

, i
Professional Industry

ARAREBREENAFBBHARREBTRK
BEENEREECERTERES L -ZTEEFEN
BREANMREAZBHREAHEESHEHZER
RSB REEEEKE ST 2o

BEEF (BREBUIFATER) EZEFHR—F-
BEREE T - NAF+_A=T—HLEFERALA
AEBCESNRBELD  EERCEZHE F2
MEFaRS [EF 22 ER] —&-

=1 ITHE {4
Financial IT Hardware

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the Board will be based on merit and contribution
a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for a period of one year. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for more details
on the service contracts/letter of appointment of Directors who served the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continueq)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann and Mr. Han Chun-Wei are executive Directors and were
appointed for a one year term expiring on 31 May 2020. The appointment is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.

Mr. Kao Chao Yang is non-executive Director and was appointed for a one
year term expiring on 31 May 2020. The appointment is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann, Mr. Han Chun-Wei and Mr. Kao Chao Yang who were
appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies shall be subject to re-
election by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan and Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling will retire from office as a
Director in accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association. They,
being eligible, offers themselves for re-election pursuant to Article 87(2) of the
articles of association.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling.
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EXSER ZEEEERRRAY Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

%%ﬁ’*jﬁfx’]tﬁmlﬂ FHIERIT— k&3 ZHMEESL The Board has held regular meetings at approximately bimonthly intervals with

& participation by a majority of Directors.
HE-Z h¢+:ﬂ —t+—HIEFE #ITT7XE During the year ended 31 December 2019, 7 Board meetings, 6 Audit
EECH ORNBERELTESSR 2XAFMEEE€EEKL  Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee meeting and 2 Nomination
QRRBE %@@%W’;\KHEFEJW ZEENRESE2E Committee meeting were held. The attendance record of each Director at
w LZEeERLRRARGZHEREHIINT meetings of the Board and various committees and at general meetings during

the period are set out below:

HEREREEAH
Attendance/Number of meeting
E EREEE FHEEE REZEE®
BERE EZg83 £ =f =f
Annual Audit Remuneration  Nomination
general Board Committee = Committee = Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting

BTES Executive Directors

RIRRLE (FE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) 01 47 N/A N/A N/A
(R=ZZE-NERA=+—H (Re-designated as executive Director and i TiEm i
FATARNITEELEEEEFE)  Chairman of the Board on 31 May 2019)

BRYNE (7THAEH) Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann N/A 1/4 N/A N/A N/A
(R=ZE—-hA&RA=1+—8 (Chief Executive Officer) i A N i A TiE A
BZE) (Appointed on 31 May 2019)

MERR L (LERE Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan 11 6/6 N/A N/A N/A

(Chief Operating Officer) TEFA T TiE A

BEREE(BEEYFE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei N/A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
(R=2—h&ERA=1+—-H (Chief Financial Officer) TER TiEHR TER TER
BZE) (Appointed on 31 May 2019)

fAEE i+ Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis 0/1 0/3 N/A 0/1 N/A
(R=ZE—h& (Resigned on 31 May 2019) i i
AA=T—HEE)

B 7558 55 & Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang 1/1 3/3 N/A 2/2 2/2
(R=—T—h& (Resigned on 31 May 2019) i f
AA=+—HEE)

FHTES Non-executive Director

BRFLE Mr. Kao Chao Yang N/A 0/4 N/A N/A N/A
(R=Z—h&ERA=1+—H (Appointed on 31 May 2019) i A N A i A i F
BZE)

LkGTES Independent Non-executive Directors

HRELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 0/1 7/7 6/6 2/2 2/2
(FHZESZE) (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

THBERE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling W 717 6/6 1/2 1/2
(BRZEELE) (Chairman of Audit Committee)

HERTAE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 0/1 6/7 5/6 2/2 2/2
(BEZE58FF) (Chairman of Nomination Committee)

AANEBEEREEETTEHLH %S508 fE  Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary and opened for
EEBHAEBNERNEMNAERNESER- inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continueq)

Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings
(continued)

The Company'’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for
the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Directors’ induction, continuous training and professional
development

The Company has organised an induction for newly appointed Directors in
order to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and basic knowledge on insider dealings and
responsibilities of directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws in Hong Kong.

Our Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.

BESERRETEER
Type of continuous professional

= Directors development programmes
HRRS A Mr. Hong Sung-Tai B
ERWEA Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann B
PR A% A 22 &= Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan B
BERLAE Mr. Han Chun-Wei B
= BRF A Mr. Kao Chao Yang B
THEBLAE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling B
1518 1 5 A4 Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A B
BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben B
Biat - Notes:

A HEARERKESR NSNS, B /Ty & A: attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or

=
=23

B: HMHEEEIENSHER

AP EESRTERE BEERA=-AEESLXES
ZXE AEZEZES FHEZEe@EREZ8E - L
AT 8 & 2 B 46 E 19 T8 7O Bse <2 B e AN X R A

directors’ duties

B: reading regulatory updates

To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three
Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference for the abovementioned
committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has complied with the
required code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except for Code Provisions A.2.1,
which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive officer should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

During the period from 1 January 2019 to 30 May 2019, Dr. Woo Kwok Fai
Louis, the then executive Director, performed both the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer. Although Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis performed both
roles, the divisions of responsibilities between the two roles were clearly
defined. The role of the chairman was to monitor the duties and performance
of the Board, whereas the role of chief executive officer was to manage the
Group’s business. The Board believed that vesting the roles of both chairman
and chief executive officer in the same person provided the Company with
strong and consistent leadership and allowed for effective and efficient planning
and implementation of business decisions and strategies.

For the purpose of achieving better corporate governance, following the
resignation of Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis with effect from 31 May 2019, Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai, has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an
executive Director and appointed as the chairman; and Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann
has been appointed as the chief executive officer. With the resignation of Dr.
Woo Kwok Fai Louis and the appointment of Mr. Hong Sung-Tai and Mr. Tsai
Biing-Hann, the Company has complied with Code Provision A.2.1 under the
Corporate Governance Code since 31 May 2019.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with Code Provision C.3.3. of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of them are independent non-executive directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings. The Audit Committee normally meets four times a year and
also meets the external auditors twice without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing and
monitoring the financial and internal control aspects, risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, and internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee reviews the truth and fairness of the
Company’s financial statements, annual report, interim report and quarterly
reports, discusses with the external auditors the nature and scope of audit
before the audit commences as well as the findings and recommendations
raised by the auditors during and after completion of the audit. The Audit
Committee conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal controls and financial controls system, risk management
system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. This allows
the Board to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to protect its
assets. The chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities of the Audit
Committee, highlights issues arising therefrom, and provides recommendations
for reporting to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors performs independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, reports to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)

Audit Committee (continued)

The quarterly, interim and annual results of the financial year of 2019, including
the consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity
and related notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision B.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai, Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (each an executive Director), Dr. Woo
Kwok Fai Louis and Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang (each former executive Director
and resigned as a member of Remuneration Committee on 31 May 2019). The
Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the reporting period and
was responsible for formulating and making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management, assessing performance of the executive Directors,
approving the terms of letter of appointment of executive Directors, and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision A.5.2. of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to implement the Group’s board diversity policy
by reviewing the composition of the Board, identifying suitable candidates for
the appointment and re-election of Directors, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and monitoring the succession planning
of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Tsai Biing-Hann (an executive Director) and Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang (former
executive Director and resigned as a member of Nomination Committee on 31
May 2019). The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the reporting
period and was responsible for evaluating and making recommendations for the
re-election of directors at the annual general meeting held on 3 May 2019 and
identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors (including former Directors who acted as
Director during the reporting period) has confirmed that during his/her tenure as
Director for the year ended 31 December 2019, he/she had fully complied with
the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code Provision
D.3.1. of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, continuous professional development of Directors, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code of the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitor
and review of the Group’s internal control system including the internal control
and risk management for the Company to ensure their effectiveness and
efficiency. The objective of internal control is to safeguard the Company’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained, so that
all the financial information is accurate and reliable. The Group has adopted
a series of internal control policies and procedures designed to provide
reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives including effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. All employees are committed to continually enhancing the
risk management measures to ensure that these measures work in line with the
growth of our business strategies and integrated into day-to-day operation of
the business. The Board shall at least annually review its risk management and
internal control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continueq)

The objective of the risk management and internal control of the Group include:

. establishing and constantly improving the risks management and internal
control system;

° ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continueq)

The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-
up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.
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The Board has, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance of the
management and external auditors, conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control system including financial,
operational and compliance controls for the financial year.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Group through discussion with the Audit
Committee on major findings and control issue. The Board considers that the
Group has implemented appropriate procedures safeguarding the Group’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained and
compliance of the relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Board also
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute inside
information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for
the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other
information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
will be announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due
course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has arranged
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial
statements reflect a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the

independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided the non-audit services including interim review services to the
Company.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be convened on the
requisition of any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
and carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Company fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continueq)

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the shareholders,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby the Company’s information shall be communicated to shareholders
mainly through general meetings, including annual general meetings, the
Company’s financial reports (annual, interim and quarterly reports), and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information is
publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to the company
secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F,
Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
company secretary shall forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board
and/or its committee to, where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

The number of shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there had been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Company is pleased to present this report in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”)
published by the Stock Exchange. The report describes the Company’s policies
in 2019 that were designed to fulfill the Company’s obligations with respect to
sustainable development and social responsibilities areas, as required by the
ESG Guide. Moreover, the ESG report is available at http://www.circutech.com.

ENVIRONMENT

Emissions

The Group is engaged in the businesses of design, marketing, repairs and other
service support of IT products. The operations of the Group by itself do not
have significant impact to the environment but the outsource manufacturing
and the IT products do generate hazardous waste and the Group is not subject
to any environmental laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group. However, the Group takes steps to closely monitor and manage the
environmental effect of all operations.

The Group aims to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions and
operate in less harmful ways to the environment. The Group constantly
incorporates green principles into each project, for example the environmental
harmfulness and the capacity of energy — saving of materials and equipment
used during the selection of suppliers. Furthermore, at the Group’s offices,
the indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning system are
controlled to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions.

The main type of energy consumption of the Group is electricity, which was
indirect emissions resulting from generation of purchased electricity.

The Hong Kong Offices
Indirect emission of CO2: 26.66 tonnes
Use of Resources

Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilisation
of the Group’s offices do not rely heavily on energy consumption nor water
resources. The Group is committed to building an environmentally friendly
working atmosphere that conserves natural resources. The Group strives to
minimise environmental impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycling of
office supplies and using environmentally friendly equipment and tools in its
operations.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

During the year, the Company continued to used LED lighting system, which
has high light-quality output and low energy usage. The air-conditioning system
are maintaining at 25 degrees Celsius and also set with timer so that they will
be automatically switched off during non-office hour. For office consumables
consumption management, the Group encourages its employees to handle
documents electronically. When the use of paper is required, only formal and
confidential documents can use single-sided printing, other documents are
required to use double-sided printing. In addition, we have installed video-
conference system to reduce business ravels and increase communication
efficiency.

The Hong Kong Offices

Indirect energy consumption: electricity 52,281 kWh

The water consumption in the Hong Kong Offices is minimal.
Environment and Natural Resources

The Group values environmentally friendly operation and minimises the impact
on the environment and natural resources. The Group sets out the environment
and resources management procedures and adopts the “reduce, reuse and
recycle” policy to reduce paper consumption.

Reduce: encourages staff to read electronic file instead of print out documents
or print on both side to create a paperless office.

Reuse: installs boxes next to printers and photocopying machines to collect
used one-side printed paper, encourages employees to use these papers for
draft print out. Reuses paper boxes for storage purpose.

Recycle: used ink and toner cartridge of printers and photocopying machines
are collected for recycling. Other than saving paper measures, we also uses
KHAN-NA paper, a uniqgue model of sustainable fiber, which mitigates global
warming.

Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not directly generate
industrial pollutants and is not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
waste. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group is not aware of
any material non-compliance issues in respect of any applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection relating to air, greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets and
core competitive advantage of the Group. They also provide driving force for
the continuous innovation of the Group. The Group rewards and recognises
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. The Group also promotes career development and progression by
appropriate training and provides opportunities for career advancement. Also,
in order to provide a good and fair working environment and safeguard the
well-being of the employees, the Group seriously considers all those valuable
opinions from employees for enhancing workplace productivity and harmony
which can help the Group to build a united and harmonious professional team.

The Group places high regard to the compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which it operates, and the relevant
administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. These rules and
regulations specify the requirements relating to employment, labour relations,
employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with the laws, regulations and policies relating to employment
and labour practices that have a significant impact on the Group. The Group
contributes to social insurances, housing fund and mandatory provident fund in
a timely manner for all the staff.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 35 employees in total, and the
combination of the gender and age group of the staff are as follows:
Category Number of Employees

Male: 27
Female: 8

Gender

Over 18-30: 7
31-40: 9
41-50: 11
51-60: 4
Over 61: 4

Age Group

Geographic location Hong Kong: 24

Overseas: 11
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SOC IAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment (continued)

The following table shows the employee turnover rate by gender and age
group:

Category Percentage of Employees
Gender Male: 11%

Female: 11%
Age Group Over 18-30: 11%

31-40: 3%

41-50: 3%

Over 61: 6%
Geographic location Hong Kong: 20%
Overseas: 3%

Health and Safety

The Group follows the guideline from the Hong Kong Labour’s Department to
set up the occupational health and safety measures of the Hong Kong offices.
In addition, workshops and guidance are provided to staff to improve their
awareness on workplace safety. There were no work-related fatalities and
reported lost days due to work related injuries during the year. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
the relevant health and safety laws and regulation that have a significant impact
on the Group.

Development and Training

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development,
so that the employees are better equipped and increasing efficiency which are
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types according to the target and purpose: internal
training and external training. In the Hong Kong offices, the Company organises
team building activities and workshops. The Group also supports staff training
programmes by granting time and reimbursement.
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SOC IAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Development and Training (continued)
Percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

Category Percentage of Employees

Male: 77 %
Female: 23%

Gender

General staff: 74%
Senior management: 26%

Employee Category

The number of training hours per employee by gender and employee category

Category Percentage of Employees

Male: 11.3 hours
Female: 15.0 hours

Gender

General staff: 15.1 hours
Senior management: 4.0 hours

Employee Category

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees.
Experienced employees will act as mentors to guide the new comers on jobs.
Such arrangements can enhance the communication and team spirit, also
improve their technical skills and managerial capability and encourage the
learning and further development of the employees at all levels. The Group
arranges the trainings designated according to the roles and responsibilities
of the employees, which mainly include human resources management,
managerial skills, legal affairs, risk management, project running, financial
and auditing, technical research and development, environmental protection,
occupational health and safety etc.. The Group also updates the latest
information of the industry and laws and regulations which are essential to the
Group’s operation and their job responsibilities from time to time.

Labour Standards

The Group’s recruitment management system measures clearly on the staff’s
requirement. Review and verification of applicant’s identity information are
required during the recruitment process, and recruitment of child labour
and forced labour is strictly prohibited. Applicant is also required to provide
document proofs of academic qualifications and working experience
for verifications and applicant who is suspected to have false academic
qualifications and working experience will not be employed. The Group
provides its staff with a safe, healthy, comfortable working environment with
labour protection, reasonable remuneration and various welfare. The Group
enters into employment contract with each of its employees in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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SOC IAL (continued)

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group values the partnership with suppliers and works together to promote
sustainable development of the industry. The Group has been continuously
optimising and improving the supplier management system, regulating the
access, supervision, evaluation and departure of suppliers, and constantly
increasing specialisation and transparency of supply chain management.
The evaluation of a supplier mainly includes background, qualification (for
example, holding necessary licenses to provide such services), quality control
of service, financial status, past performance in similar service, fulfiment of
contract, professionalism of project team, operation in good integrity and
social responsibility. Whether the supplier is qualified is determined based on
the evaluation results, and those suppliers who fail to meet the requirements
will ultimately be disqualified. The Group values communication with suppliers,
including continuous communication with suppliers in routine work and
establishing strategic cooperation with suppliers through technical support
and unique competitive advantage that can achieve a win-win situation and
strengthen the cooperation with each other. The largest supplier and the five
largest suppliers accounted for 47% and 99%, respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the year. Over 95% of the purchases are from suppliers outside
Hong Kong.

Product Responsibility

The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the services
provided. The Group has established relevant policies which cover service
quality guarantee, safety, fair advertising and after-sale services in order to
ensure that relevant measures comply with the laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the quality and safety of its products and
services. In 2019, the Group did not receive any complaints or requests to
terminate relationship due to poor quality and safety. If a complaint should
arise, the Group will immediately assess the complaint and conduct an internal
investigation into the matter to identify the source of the issue. The Group has
close connection with customers. If customers are not satisfied with the quality
and safety of the services, the Group will arrange sufficient channels and staff
to support customers’ communication and provide solutions to the problems as
soon as possible.
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SOC IAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

The routine work of the Group always involves the intellectual property rights
of customers, suppliers and the Group, therefore protection of intellectual
property rights is extremely important. The Group adds protective clauses
to the contracts entered into with customers and suppliers to safeguard
intellectual property rights. The Group also reviews every operational contract
to ensure that the contract safeguards the intellectual property rights of the
parties. Furthermore, the Group also requests technical specialists to sign
confidentiality agreements. The Group also complies with relevant data privacy
legislations. All confidential data of customers can only be accessed by the
staff who are responsible the projects for of relevant clients.

With respect to fair advertising, the Group requires the employees of the
sales department to provide customers with accurate and true information on
the Group’s products and services. Hotline and e-mail are also available for
customers’ enquiries on service details in order to provide better before and
after sale services.

Anti-corruption

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group is not aware of any
non-compliance with local and national legislations on standards of conduct,
such as with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong and relevant
legislations on bribery extortion, fraud, money laundering in Hong Kong and in
other jurisdictions.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to code of business ethics
as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest must
be reported to the Group’s management. Employees who engage in business
operations and represent the Company’s professional image are strictly
prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or benefit.

Public tendering will be made for any project in larger sum where at least
three suppliers are invited for tender. Service contracts in different amount are
required to be examined and approved by different management.

During the year, there is no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees.
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SOC IAL (continued)

Community
Community Investment and Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the communities in which it
operates and maintains close ties with the communities in order to contribute
to local development.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community
depends on the cooperation of people, corporations and society as a whole.
By working together with various community partners, the Group believes
that it can bring a tremendous impact on the sustainable development of the
communities in which it operates.

The Group will also actively encourage staff to devote their time and skills to
benefit local communities. It gives employees the opportunities to find out more
about the issues about society and the environment and reinforce the Group’s
corporate values.

During the year, the Group sponsored the Homeless World Cup organised by
Hong Kong Street Soccer and funded by the Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities
Trust. Through advocating team spirit and in cooperation with different parties
in the community, the Group considers the event will promote a more inclusive
society, encourage and support marginal groups and former prison inmates to
build self-confidence and perseverance so that they may re-integrate into the
society as soon as possible.

The Group will consider from time to time donation to charitable organisations if
the Group records profit after tax and has sufficient cash flow.
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To the Shareholders of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

54 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



18 1 % 8K B R 5
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’ S REFORT

ERETEE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRESTEEEBERMOZELE  RAB A4S Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
EMBBRENEARAEENSZIE ﬁ%%lﬁmﬁiﬁz of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the

MEFEBGAVBRERREAEERRETRED current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
BT eHEatEERERHERNER - the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BAEEHSE
Key Audit Matter

FHZBERGZITEEMT AL E
Valuation of derivative financial instruments
in relation to the associate

FLHEE M B MEM T3 4()R17
Refer to Notes 3.3, 4(c) and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements

RZZFE—N\FtA+NA' BEE£EUIE4Square Return GmbH
([4Square | ) z21%fk#E - B BSEERESKR-_T-_=FK
fE4Squarez 82 T A& 1 2 3R 8 HA #E & % T 4Square H fth i = # FI
BN EEEERBHEERE=HRARTERBRENBRLT
M SH5EED4Square 21 %M 2 B0 Bk ([WIBSE] ) -
On 19 July 2018, the Group acquired 21% equity interest of
4Square Return GmbH ("4Square”) and the Group was entitled
to a call option to acquire the remaining equity interest of
4Square in 2023 and a buy-back option that entitled the other
shareholders of 4Square to buy-back the 21% equity interest
in 4Square from the Group if the Group does not exercise the
call option within three months after call option expires (the
“Acquisition”).

BRANEA NN EERREETSHE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BAPT 9 [0 FE -
Our response:

LMtz E AR ZTASRm T AETHENRER
Our procedures in relation to valuation of derivative financial
instruments in relation to the associate.

- FHMHEAEWEFER2EENH UTRXSHFE 8K
B TRkt BEEEZENREL-

- We read the sale and purchase agreement of the Acquisition
to understand the details of the transaction, including the
consideration, the conditions of completion, the rights and
obligations of the Group.

—  BMEEEREE QR 2RE R R B & i O B R R R AR
BEBXHZYE BREEERZ KRR -

= We checked the terms of the call option and buy-back option
in relation to the investment in the associate to the relevant
supporting documents, including the sale and purchase
agreement and shareholder agreement.
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FERETEE »)

BREENSEE
Key Audit Matter

EHZBENGZITLELMTAMGE (£)
Valuation of derivative financial instruments
in relation to the associate (continued)

R4SquareZ BILE KA £14,508,000/8 - tEBEITR - BEE
PR U EE B Hi B & 154Square 2 21% MR # & — (7 R 35 B4 K B [al
HHE o

The total cost of the investment in 4Square was
HK$14,508,000. In return, the Group is entitled to 21% of equity
interest in 4Square and a call option and buy-back option at the
date of the acquisition.

RUEEEBRE - BERERGEEIBRRIRAFR4Square (1R —
A& A A 218 &6,569,000/%8 7t & A F{E7,939,000 7T 2 R I
HERELAEERRITESRITA -

The Group recognised the investment in 4Square as an
associate amounted to HK$6,569,000 and the call option and
buy-back option at a fair value of HK$7,939,000 as derivative
financial instruments in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of acquisition.

B IR E E SN (B AP AR B 2 18 N 1B R AT SRR A K o
HEREHZEB ZATE-

Management performed the assessment of the fair value of
the call option and buy-back option at year end based on an
independent valuation report prepared by an external valuer.

AR ZEHENFERAZRAFEMRER 2 EIRRE X E (252
ERAIZWAERERURE)BEX  HIEZERED RS
FERTEHE-

We identified this matter as a key audit matter because of the
significance management judgement used in the fair value of
the options at year end including the revenue growth rate of the
associate and the discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

BHNENAEEREETSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

B ENEB I EEMZERE e REB M-
We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent external valuer.

BMERABHEESRIGEERERETREELERL A
ZRFESERRAEETEREERRZEE -

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology and the underlying assumptions adopted by
management in determining the fair value of the call option
and buy-back option with the involvement of our in house
valuation expert.

BRMEREZEERRERZ TR B TS 0] BRI
HRK -

We evaluated the key assumptions used based on our
understanding of the business of the associate and by
comparing the market available data.
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BERENSE ) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

BAEEHSE
Key Audit Matter

FEREE

Provision for inventories

B2 A M SRR M E4(a) 220
Refer to Notes 4(a) and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements

RZTE-AF+ZA=+—8  &HH£EFAKREIES0,849,000
Bz FE MR ##E /2,301,000 7T
The Group held inventories with a carrying value of
HK$30,849,000, which is net of provision amounted to
HK$2,301,000 as at 31 December 2019.

GERGEVBHRRDAKNABAIER FEME 2REEF|E-
Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value in
the consolidated financial statements.

ERENHARKEBFEE 2R LA #RFE THRERFHERF
BERE-BIFERERFHEEREECEBREEXKANEER
BERABEMGG ERERERME RKRERL BEHERK
L EBRBHHETE - ZEMATRRARTSES TFH
kR BB R 2 DHEEME

Management assessed the provision for obsolete and slow
moving inventories at period end based on the ageing of
inventories and their net realisable value. The identification
of obsolete and slow moving inventories and determination
of selling price less cost to sell require the use of significant
judgement and estimates, including the consideration of
products’ nature, ageing profile, historical sales pattern,
estimated selling price and forecasted sales orders. The
estimates are also subject to the uncertainty of market trends,
customer demands and technology development.

B IZEB I AN EREAREEFEREBI R ERER
il &1 Ke I o

We focused on this area due to the significance of the balance,
significant management estimates and judgements involved in
determining the provision for inventories.

BRANEA NN EERREETSHE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HATEY @ E -
Our response:

BMRAGTERBEHZIEF B

Our procedures in relation to provision for inventories included:

- HMEEGHEEZRRBFEMEFEEELXHEUREREKLZ
N YREREIwRAREFEIRE NEMABIERE -

= We have obtained the ageing listing of inventories and
checked the inventory in and out documents to verify ageing
correctness and discuss with management any impairment
issue on unsold inventory items which are long-aged.

- BMREEAAREEERAE-
- We have checked costing of inventory on a sampling basis.

- FMAEAMEERNRELEBERERREEBRES S NKA
NZHFERBEMHEERATEREE-

- We have checked subsequent realisable value of inventory
items by verify the final selling price is above cost after making
provision for any costs to sell.
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WEER BB E IR &I & & B &

4o

BMESEAMBBRRNERL TREREMES
T AEZEEMEREREMNTEANEESS -

A

HEBRMEREMBHRRNES RMANREENE
HMES HUBRS ZEHMES IS BEA MK
BERIRMEEFBETATHEOBEAFTEENES
FEUFFEERERRANBR - EREMD AT
M WREMRBBEMESFEERERRL K
MERREZEE -EETH RIOREEMERE-

EERGEMBRRARENER

EXAREREEBGIMASRMNETLHBRE
EARBERAGINEERERBEEMH BN
EHMBRE UYHERRREEEMBRROEES
T2 R IR HREF 3 85 AR T B B e BB K88 RR R P 8 9
MEHAE-

ERBGAVBRAN EFAENM EEEFE
REMEN YEERBATHREEFRELE G
FE OANERHBECERSTER RIEEEE
# BEREFR{EFELEE IRELBERHENR
vl

i

o

E=NAAEEE ESENVBREBRE -BHRZR
SeMMESETUHIEMNET

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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BAWER THEAMBBRREBELSAFEAR
MEFHERMEBWERNERRARGEBRE L
HABSRERMELENZBERSE - RAERERMN
ZEBEFRA BT (EFREBR)ME BRI AH
SRHEEMEN BRI ERABENARAEME
A+ B EsEEEMET-

EERETHKFORE BFERERBEBEN
EAPETHES EX - ERERRAFAER B3R
o SRR A DA R BRFF SR A RR 1 - IR A B FRME
BB ELRRAIER BERA M EHMREMEKE
e MBRRMELALERE  AEBROHRERL
ARRIEEKR-

ERETBBIERETRINBES RIEAT
BT RIS T SR BGEAE - BT

. BBl A AE A R RRF S ER AR T B B AR A B S
REEERERRANELR - ReT RATEE
P A 8 41 55 Lo [ B - DA SR S ER 3t = ASE B B /AT
BE FRRMAEANER - ARRFFAI S R
BR - RE ERER EERL OZENAE
2z b R R IR A MEE M E A E A
RIMHERERAEERRERMEHNE
A 88 BR BRI R [ R

. R e St AR R R BRI ] - A RETE S M E At
BF - EBEMNLEYE HRERIESNARE
BRER-

. FEEEMRBEFTRRNREERFEL S
flEt AR EN S -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pak Tak Lun

Practising Certificate number: P06170

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

BEt+-—A=+—BLEE
For the year ended
31 December

—E-hEF —ZT-)N\F
2019 2018
B &t FET F&ET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 5 332,884 299,109
8 5 AR Cost of sales 7 (309,201) (284,271)
EF Gross profit 23,683 14,838
HAt g A Other income 6 3,860 252
$HE ko #HEKAR Selling and distribution costs 7 (6,079) (5,754)
THEHR Administrative expenses 7 (17,047) (22,081)
MrREERSZ T Research and development expenditures 7 (1,589) (1,550)
8175 AR AR Finance costs 10 (74) =
LSRR, (B1E) Operating profit/(loss) 2,754 (14,295)
FREREARZEMR Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
— [ A A 4L A using the equity method 12 625 523
BRETS R AN (E1E) Profit/(loss) before income tax 3,379 (18,772)
FrisfiA X Income tax expenses 13 (890) (834)
RNEFRF, (BIE) Profit/(loss) for the year 2,489 (14,606)
AEFEEMEERE: Other comprehensive income for the year:
HEAREEMN D IEE 82 2 HH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
BREBINEBEEZIEN Z5 Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (697) (1,963)
BT EE S EEEm 2 HH Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
FREMEEKSEATE Changes in the fair value of equity investment at
Bz E=REZ AT EE fair value through other comprehensive income 19 30
(678) (1,933)
AEEEEW B Total comprehensive income for the year 1,811 (16,539)
FlAR A 2 Uk a R FE SR EE Y Y e — GF R E - The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE
For the year ended
31 December

—E-NEF —T—-)\F
2019 2018
=3 FET F&ET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
AT ATEERFEE Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
wm L (E5E) -
—ARRQAEE A — Owners of the Company 2,489 (14,601)
—JEERE RS - Non-controlling interests - (5)
2,489 (14,606)
BRI ATEERFEE Total comprehensive income for the year
FHEEEE attributable to:
S WNEIE TN — Owners of the Company 1,815 (16,552)
—FEIE AR RE 2 - Non-controlling interests (4) 13
1,811 (16,539)
ARRHEANEEERER, Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of
(E1E) (FR’RBW) the Company (HK cents per share)
—BEAREE ~ Basic and diluted 14 10.62 (62.31)

Annual Report 2019 F 63



fmo BIS AR SR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-NF —T— N\
2019 2018
B i FET F&ET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
M- BE RE&HE Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 5,809 8,158
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 732 -
R—EBER R 2 Em Interest in an associate 12 6,741 6,958
MEEMIA Derivative financial instruments 17 8,247 7,788
FERHEMEEKEERATE Financial asset at fair value through
VEzeRMEE other comprehensive income 18 1,511 1,492
23,040 24,396
REEE Current assets
& Inventories 20 30,849 12,327
JFE LT B 3k K% HL i U R Trade and other receivables 19 2,555 7,600
SZRHBRITFER Restricted bank deposits 32 31,220 31,220
RekReEED Cash and cash equivalents 21 63,021 72,369
127,645 123,516
HmEE Total assets 150,685 147,912
R Equity
& 75 Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
H it E Other reserves 23 195,621 196,295
2T EE Accumulated losses 24 (66,448) (68,889)
KA AE ANEMLZEARNEME Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company 133,860 132,093
FEFE R Non-controlling interests (495) (491)
R Total equity 133,365 131,602
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R+=ZA=+-—8
As at 31 December
—E-NF —ZT—-N\F
2019 2018
K et FET FEor
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
= Liabilities
REBAE Current liabilities
& {1 AR 3R B EL ) JRE A5 3R Trade and other payables 26 16,347 14,003
HEBE Lease liabilities 27 758 =
EHEE Contract liabilities 26 1,232
FES R IR Tax payables 180 1,075
17,311 16,310
BREERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 133,374 131,602
kREBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 9 =
mEE Total liabilities 17,320 16,310
EEREEHE Total equity and liabilities 150,685 147,912
L ER & B A AR 5 3R E B BT B RE — R B GE o The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FEO2E1TE AN EREAKLEZEN — T -FF  The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 167 were approved by

A THERE THTIEERRESSHE: the Board of Directors on 20 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf
MR EE BEREEE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
EE 3
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE-Z-NF+-A=+-BLFHE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

HARRET AR
Attributable to owners of the Company
BA Hitt 2itEE it FERER st
Non-
Share Other Accumulated controlling
capital reserves losses Total interests Total

(Hitez2)  (W#23)  (Hi#24)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)

FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

R-ZZE-NE—A—H At 1 January 2018 4,687 198,246 (54,288) 148,645 (504) 148,141
AEEEE Loss for the year - - (14,601)  (14,601) (5)  (14,606)
Hin2E s Other comprehensive income = (1,951) = (1,951) 18 (1,933)
AEEXENEAE Total comprehensive income

for the year - (1,951)  (14601)  (16,552) 13 (16,539)
RZZ-\E+=-A=+—-HRK At 31 December 2018 and

—E-NE—F—H 1 January 2019 4,687 196,295 (68,889) 132,093 (491) 131,602

SIBREE (H1i22.2(2) Change in accounting policy

(Note 2.2(3)) - - (48) (48) - (48)
RZZ-NE—A—H(LE3) At 1 January 2019 (restated) 4,687 196,295 (68,937) 132,045 (491) 131,554
KERRM Profit for the year - - 2,489 2,489 - 2,489
Hio 2 W e Other comprehensive income - (674) - (674) (4) (678)
AEEXENEEE Total comprehensive income

for the year - (674) 2,489 1,815 (4) 1,811
R=2-h%+=B=+-8 At 31 December 2019 4687 195,621 (66,448) 133,860 (495) 133,365
LR A S S B R R RSN M — R - The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE
For the year ended
31 December

—E-hEF —T—-)\F
2019 2018
k=3 FET F&ET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REXEBECHERE Cash flows from operating activities
KRR (FTH) EEXRSE Cash (used in)/generated from operations 30 (6,532) 18,116
B F B Interest received 635 233
EATFTEH Income taxes paid (1,785) (70)
KERER (TR EE2 Net cash (used in)/generated from
_ HeFE®E operating activities (7,682) 18,279
REXKEzHESRE Cash flows from investing activities
Y BB KRBT Payments for property, plant and equipment (23) (160)
HEME BERZREZ Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
Fr18 3018 equipment 3 =
PR il $R 1T 75 I A0 Increase in restricted bank deposits - (15,669)
R— & AR 2 SR Payments for interest in an associate and
HEATEemIA the related derivative financial instruments - (14,508)
f%%“_%_ﬁ%fﬁ_ﬁf]iz_iﬁ_é_%_%ﬁ_ Net cash used in investing activities (20) (30,337)
REXKCRERE Cash flows from financing activities
EEHEaBZAESIS Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities (1,363) -
EEHEABZAEIS Repayment of interest portion of the lease
liabilities (74) -
MEXBAAZ RS FRE Net cash used in financing activities 31 (1,437) =
HeRBReEEBMRDFE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9,139) (12,058)
RENzREeRRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 72,369 86,067
EREFHHINS NS HEYW 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
?&% cash equivalents (209) (1,640)
RERZBEERBE2EEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 21 63,021 72,369

LA AR A IR S i = 5K FE LR MY B o — ORI E - The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Report
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instruments) measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards and

interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2019:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

. HKFRS 16, Leases

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

. Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

o Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

. Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

. Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23 included in Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases have been
summarised in below. The other new or amended HKFRSs
that are effective from 1 January 2019 did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in accounting
treatment for lease accounting, primarily for accounting
for lessees. It replaces HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 177),
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease (‘HK(IFRIC) - Int 4”), HK(SIC)-Int
15 Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. From a lessee’s perspective,
almost all leases are recognised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, with the narrow exception to this principle for
leases which the underlying assets are of low-value or
are determined as short-term leases. From a lessor’s
perspective, the accounting treatment is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. For details of HKFRS 16
regarding its new definition of a lease, its impact on the
Group’s accounting policies and the transition method
adopted by the Group as allowed under HKFRS 16,
please refer to section (ii) to (v) below.
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22 BHBRRBEBEZEH (£) 2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
(a) FEBRNZFHETRAENEETER X (a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
R (E) adopted by the Group (continued)
BB HHREERE 165 [HE] HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(%)
() HNBBMBEREERE165% (i)  Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued)

2B (E)

AEERHARFTZELER The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative
BEMBEHREERIE165 - I effect approach and recognised all the cumulative
WRA B XERESY R effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment
SREBFIHR R HE - 15 to the opening balance of accumulated losses at the
REREXERB BT R date of initial application. The comparative information
FIEEARNTAR MBS presented in 2018 has not been restated and
MR EEAE16 B E continues to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
BXFEST RZT—N\F2 interpretations as allowed by the transition provision in
FIH LB ER T T B Wi HKFRS 16.

BRBEFEB G ENEITHR

RiE@ZREER -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued)

The following table summarised the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 on statement of financial position as of

31 December 2018 to that of 1 January 2019:

FE T
HK$ 000

R-_ZT—hFE—A—BHBEARRE Statement of financial position as at

1 January 2019

FRHEEE Right-of-use assets 2,013
HEBEGERE) Lease liabilities (non-current) 713
HEBE(RS) Lease liabilities (current) 1,348
RETEE Accumulated losses 48
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2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued)

The following reconciliation explains how the operating
lease commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at
the end of 31 December 2018 could be reconciled
to the lease liabilities at the date of initial application

—BZUMBRARERZRE recognised in the statement of financial position as at 1
RERBHNEE B EETEH January 2019:
RzAR:
FET
HK$'000
REHEREHEESEENEE Reconciliation of operating lease commitments
to lease liabilities
BE_Z—N\F+=-_A=+—80H Operating lease commitments as of
T EAE 31 December 2018 1,276

BN =T —AFE+=F=+—8H
A Em R e A E

m:AEERAAEEEETED
EEEEERRENHEE

Less: short term leases for which lease terms end

within 31 December 2019 (6)
Add: leases included in extension option which

the Group considers reasonably certain to

exercise 876

B BEMBERX Less: future interest expenses (85)
HEz—_Z—hF—A—HHK Total lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019

HEBEESE 2,061

R=ZB—NF—A—RA 2K
MR R ER Z A E B EFTE A
2 INAE T AR A 8 B A5 A
K 55.125% °

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019
was 5.125%.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(i

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use
an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. A contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time when the customer, throughout
the period of use, has both: (a) the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
the identified asset and (b) the right to direct the use of
the identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, a lessee shall allocate the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components, unless the lessee apply the
practical expedient which allows the lessee to elect,
by class of underlying asset, not to separate non-
lease components from lease components, and instead
account for each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and account for all each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(ii)

Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease as an
operating lease or a finance lease based on the extent
to which risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of a lease asset lie with the lessor or the lessee.
If a lease is determined as an operating lease, the
lessee would recognise the lease payments under the
operating lease as an expense over the lease term. The
asset under the lease would not be recognised in the
statement of financial position of the lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of they are
operating leases or finance leases) are required to be
capitalised in the statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but HKFRS
16 provides accounting policy choices for an entity to
choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term
leases and/or (i) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of a lease.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(i)

Accounting as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability should be recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the date of commencement of the lease. The lease
payments shall be discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group shall use the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New and amended standards and interpretations as

adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(i) Accounting as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use on the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any
lease incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee
shall measure the lease liability by: (i) increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

(iv)  Accounting as a lessor
The accounting policies applicable to the Group as

a lessor remain substantially unchanged from those
under HKAS 17.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(v)

Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied HKFRS 16
using the cumulative effect approach and recognised
all the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS
16 as an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated losses at the date of initial application (1
January 2019). The comparative information presented
in 2018 has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations as
allowed by the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at
the date of 1 January 2019 for leases previously
classified as operating leases applying HKAS 17 and
measured those lease liabilities at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019.

The Group has elected to recognise the right-of-
use assets at 1 January 2019 for leases previously
classified operating leases under HKAS 17 as if
HKFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement
date, but discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. For
these right-of-use assets, the Group has applied HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets at 1 January 2019 to assess if
there was any impairment as on that date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

\

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Transition (continued)

The Group has also applied the follow practical
expedients: (i) applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics; (ii) applied the exemption of not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with term that will end within 12 months of
the date of initial application (1 January 2019) and
accounted for those leases as short-term leases; (iii)
exclude the initial direct costs from the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at 1 January 2019; and (iv)
used hindsight in determining the lease terms if the
contracts contain options to extend or terminate the
leases.

In addition, the Group has also applied the practical
expedients such that: () HKFRS 16 is applied to all
of the Group’s lease contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4; and (i) not to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that
were not previously identified as containing a lease
under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int4.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

HK{(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12,
Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to reflect the
effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.

Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether
to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or
together based on which approach better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume
the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to
examine and have full knowledge of all related information
when making those examinations. If the entity determines
it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, then the entity should measure current and
deferred tax in line with its tax filings. If the entity determines
it is not probable, then the uncertainty in the determination
of tax is reflected using either the “most likely amount” or the
“expected value” approach, whichever better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Amendments to HKAS 19 — Plan amendments, Curtailment or
Settlement

The amendments clarify that on amendment, curtailment
or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company should
use updated actuarial assumptions to determine its current
service cost and net interest for the period. Additionally, the
effect of the asset ceiling is disregarded when calculating the
gain or loss on any settlement of the plan and is dealt with
separately in other comprehensive income.
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MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets
with negative compensation can be measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income if
specified conditions are met — instead of at fair value through
profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 28 — Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

The amendment clarifies that HKFRS 9 applies to long-term
interests (“LTI"”) in associates or joint ventures which form
part of the net investment in the associates or joint ventures
and stipulates that HKFRS 9 is applied to these LTI before
the impairment losses guidance within HKAS 28.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Business Combinations

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include amendments
to HKFRS 3 which clarifies that when a joint operator of
a business obtains control over a joint operation, this is a
business combination achieved in stages and the previously
held equity interest should therefore be remeasured to its
acquisition date fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKFRS 11 which clarify that when a party that participates
in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation which
is a business and subsequently obtains joint control of the
joint operation, the previously held equity interest should not
be remeasured to its acquisition date fair value.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKAS 12 which clarify that all income tax consequences of
dividends are recognised consistently with the transactions
that generated the distributable profits, either in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKAS 23 which clarifies that a borrowing made specifically to
obtain a qualifying asset which remains outstanding after the
related qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale
would become part of the funds an entity borrows generally
and therefore included in the general pool.
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MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

(b)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.
The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on
the date they become effective.

Amendments to Definition of a business’
HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of material’
and HKAS 8

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

The amendments were originally intended to be effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The effective
date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the
amendments continue to be permitted.



fm S B F5 SR TR B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FEESHHEHE»

22 BHBRREEZS2H (&)

(b)

E 18 [ 5 £ 34 2 F 5T AEMEET
BEEBHBHEER (&)

BRI & ER 3B
BZEE

GETA —%

ZIERIARE EBBABRED—
ARAR—EBEEEIE  mEHE
EERZENAERER Y[
HEBiE] 2RERERAEES -

BEON - ZAERTAMER T HiH2EER
BHEENRREMRKINEALB
TR R FFEANEE B 2 FT L - R
B R[EHK| 2EEHRE B3
MInEPHERMERBMEZ
(o] 3 i FEFR AR AR  FZAERT AR TRE AN
NEZENEPERIE - o7 AT
Bre—HEHNEERSTBENE
BT RCRT

BRI ERE 15 KT B 25 ER
FOF A A —EXZEHE

ZETABRBIEAIZEERR
B MemBaAMBERELEL R
SERZESE  WEEBSELE
VEZ TR ENATEE °
BB ISR EERENTH —IRE S
#

BEF B MEERNFA7THRBMALE
B EERFEAS  ERRZS
BRZETARBHRRARER 5
& 2 RBEERBRAONE—RA
i ot o

=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a business

The amendments clarify that a business must include, as a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs,
together with providing extensive guidance on what is meant
by a “substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce
outputs, whilst narrowing the definition of “outputs” and
a “business” to focus on returns from selling goods and
services to customers, rather than on cost reductions. An
optional concentration test has also been added that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition of material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation
of “material”, aligning the definition across all HKFRS
Standards and the Conceptual Framework, and incorporating
supporting requirements in HKAS 1 into the definition.

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 will replace HKFRS 4 as a single principle-based
standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of insurance contracts in the financial statements
of the issuers of those contracts.
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2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes to the
Group’s accounting policies and financial statements.

2.3 Principles of consolidation

2.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation (continued)

2.3.2 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.3.3
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors who make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)
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Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as derivative financial instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than

its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

=} MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Capitalised development costs

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique IT products controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the
following criteria are met:

o it is technically feasible to complete the software so
that it will be available for use;

° management intends to complete the software and use
or sell it;

° there is an ability to use or sell the software;

o it can be demonstrated how the software will generate
probable future economic benefits;

o adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available; and

. the expenditure attributable to the software during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
capitalised development cost include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (continued)
(b) Research and development

Research expenditure and development expenditure that
do not meet the criteria in (a) above are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.

(c) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible asset with a limited useful life
using the straight-line method over the following period:

Capitalised development costs 3 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through OCI, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
FVOCI at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investment measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.1

2.12

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 19 for further details.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position where the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group companies or the
counterparty.

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

2.16

Inventories

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises cost of purchase, cost
of conversion and other costs incurred to bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of first-in first-out
(“FIFO”). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 45
days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.10 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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2.19 Employee benefits

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
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Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(@) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.

2.20 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
the “2016 Option Scheme”.

Information relating to this scheme is

set out in Note 25.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the 2016 Option Scheme is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined

by reference to the fair value of the options granted:
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including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price)

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period), and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Share-based payments (continued)

2.21

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option
grant are considered an integral part of the grant itself and the
charges are treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, appropriate amount of shares
are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability
at the time in the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially
measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of

o The amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and

o The amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

(a) Sale and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the
specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sale and distribution of IT products (continued)
Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
(b) Rendering of repairs and service support
The Group provides repair, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that
for contracts with customers under services support, there
is only one performance obligation. For the provision of
services, revenue is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered to customers as
the Group determined that the customer receives and uses
the benefits simultaneously.

Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
right to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to
the customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. Contract liabilities are recognised for services to be
provided to customers represented by the excess of consideration
received from the customers according to agreed customer billing
schedules over cumulative revenue recognised.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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2 FEBTHHRBE# 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2200 HE (BE-E-NE—F—BEEAZE 2.26A Leases (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019)
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All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26A Leases (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019)

(continued)

Lease liability (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change
in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.

Accounting as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26B Leases (accounting policies applied until 31 December

2.27

2018)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are classified
as operating leases (Note 27). Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(iij)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into

account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

. the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.28 Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Related parties (continued)

(o)

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and

include:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

() Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Exposure

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as

follows:
EpH BT 3
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET Fr#ET Fr#ET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-Z—h&F As at 31 December 2019
+=A=+-~8
BE Assets
JE W2 BR 3% I EL th i W 5k Trade and other receivables 283 - 1
SZIREIRITFER Restricted bank deposits 31,220 = =
RekREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 22,404 533 799
8& Liabilities
JE 15T BR 3k 2 HL At B 5 3K Trade and other payables (389) - -
ETT BT e
us$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
R-ZE—NF As at 31 December 2018
+=A=+-8
BE Assets
JFE Lt B Kk K% EL At 8 U SR Trade and other receivables 396 - 74
BRI 88 17 75 3K Restricted bank deposits 31,220 = =
ReKkBLEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21,084 318 398
=K | Liabilities
JE 1 BR SR 2 HL th & - 5Kk Trade and other payables (1,392) - -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

()

HETFEZZMTA-

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/
HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of post-tax profit
or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
from EUR-HK$ denominated financial instruments.

—E-NE “T-)N\&
2019 2018
HEeEE HpizBEn
HNE EEZE/S SNE  ELEZIE/S
EXEEH ()% i) ()78
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT,/ BITER—- EFH EUR/HK$ exchange rate —
increase 3% 13 9% 24
BT TR - T % EUR/HK$ exchange rate —
decrease (3%) (13) (9%) (24)

RZE-—NF+A=+—
H - 7S£ B a9 S0 E R B
P RBIERB B ITHETH
NRIFEEREN BT %
8 #203,000%& T (=T — )\
1 264,000/ 7T ) BB £ %
éé&o

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect to the
potential effects of HK$203,000 (2018: HK$264,000)
on post-tax profit or loss included the impacts from
translation in intercompany balances which are
translated from HK$ to EUR.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(1) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency
exposure is considered as minimal and is not
hedged. Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of RMB and GBP against HK$ would not
have a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB and GBP against HK$.

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets at trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on nature of customer accounts
and shared credit risk characteristics.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2019, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 59.5% and
26.7% (2018: 85.0% and 76.7%), of the Group’s trade
receivables balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors
saved for the debtor related to the impaired trade receivable
disclosed in the below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the provision for impairment of the trade and
other receivables based on background and reputation of the
customers, historical payment records, past experience, the
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors. The
directors consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be
low and no provision for impairment of trade receivables was
made as of 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
or credit facilities being utilised during the year, except
for a standby line of credit issued to a vendor (Note 32).
The Group maintains its own treasury function to monitor
the current and expected liquidity requirements and aims
to maintain flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash
equivalents generated from operations. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
and trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the consolidated balance sheet date to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the

Fe impact of discounting is not significant.
—ZE-hF —T-)N\&F
2019 2018
F#E T FE
HK$’000 HK$’000

—FR Less than 1 year

JE 11 BR 3R % H Ath FE 1 3K Trade and other payables 13,906 13,022
HEBE Lease liabilities 758 =
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3 BHXERERE s
3.2 BAEE
AEBEBEAYANA —

« REEBEGEEN USHME
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. HRREEARBARMDE AKX
Ao

RTRBRABEALERE AKETREE
8BRS T RCR B AR BERR - MRR 5 R
BA BOHRSIHEEENREMEER

AEBNEARBEREBRARFHEAR
DR RNYNETE PN &l

HITARMRAREE B AEERRE
REBEREEER - I RUFER R
BEAE O FEBNANEER (BELGE
Bt 75 7R 0 3R BT R AT AR R B L e A 3R
FESH - ARBENEREARBEZTER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:—

o safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

o maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing

AR K o ratio at a very low level.
—E-NF —T—)\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
4A (5 T Total debts 17,320 16,310
g Total equity 133,365 131,602
13.0% 12.4%
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3 HHERAKRERE e 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.3 AQAFEME 3.3 Fair value estimation
(a =HEE (a) Financial assets
() DT EER () Fair value hierarchy
NETR L TR AR A IS IR R This section explains the judgements and estimates
ARATFEERRTEZEH made in determining the fair values of the financial
T B2 AFERTVEH E &G instruments that are recognised and measured at
e BABEEEAFEAMALH fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
ABBNAIEREEEE ~& provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
EREer£AHEEHIA used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
DER-B -ZSEBRIZHALOT its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
KPR e under the accounting standards. An explanation of

each level follows underneath the table.

LEUDNFEE Recurring fair value measurements
Recurring fair value F1E %258 %38 @t
REENTEGE measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Wit FHET FHET FHET FHET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
RZE-NE At 31 December 2019
+=A=t-8
tREE Financial assets
fTESRTA Derivative financial instruments 17 - - 8,247 8,247
BREMEE KR Financial asset at FVOCI
BRATESIEZ
LREE 18 - - 1,511 1,511
R-E2-N\% At 31 December 2018
+=A=+-H
THEE Financial assets
TESRIA Derivative financial instruments 17 - - 7,788 7,788
BREMEE R Financial asset at FVOCI
RATFESEL
SHEE 18 - - 1,492 1,492
RAFEE KFHERFEE There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
E2%1 2H3E 2 HBES recurring fair value measurements during the year.
o
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3 HKEARERE®

3.3 ADVEMF (F)

(a) ZHEE (&)

()

(i)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

NFEER(E) () Fair value hierarchy (continued)

REBEBBR AR REHRRER The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

AFEERNE A RE HEH transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

¥ o of the reporting period.

EE EERTS (MAREENETARR GRS EENSRITANRA FERBREHROT S RES!
R-AEERENCREEMANTSRERERERB - ZZEITHAIAEIE-

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

FEoE WIRERT S (MHBIMTETR)EENSGRITAN A FTEIKAGERMNEE 25 MERME
ENAABETSHEEMNE S KBEBNEEMGMA -MAETARTEMTEMBEANE ARIES
RATBREE  AZ T A AE2E-

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

F3fE WM—IRNZIREBRGABIBELIERBEAIERTISEESFL  MZTAIAEIE - E EHRAZS
BB UL 1B o

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

ETFE RN FEABGZERT (i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

BE XA A AERM AR
RESRESN - RIBEF KA
RN ERARRASRE
BREE R FEREDFH
H-BEAAFHRcBEERE
ERZRIBERERES -

The valuation technique used to determine fair value is
discounted cash flow analysis. Based on the financial
budgets and forecast, the determination of fair value
use post-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using terminal growth rate.
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3 HHERAKRERE e 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.3 2QDFEMEH (£) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) THEE(E) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(i) (EHEBAXT 0] B g A 295 (i)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
(E3E)Z 1 FlE:HZ inputs (level 3)
SREE
Financial assets
ZRHEMEE
WEEQAFEE
fTESMIA JEZeRMEE
Derivative Financial
financial asset at
instruments FVOCI
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

R-ZZE—+t&F+=-HA=+—H2Z Balance at 31 December 2017

w5 - 1,462
FER—HEBE R RERZ Derivative financial instruments in
PTEemIA (HiFE17) relation to the interest in an
associate (Note 17) 7,939 -
NEBEEH Change in fair value = 30
MEHE5 Exchange differences (151) -

R-ZZE—N\F+=-_A=+—HZ Balance at 31 December 2018

e 7,788 1,492
N EES Change in fair value 706 19
EHE8 Exchange differences (247) -

RZZE—h&F+=-A=+—H2Z Balance at 31 December 2019

Fe 3 8,247 1,511
FHiREAMEE KSR A TET The fair value of the financial asset at FVOCI and
BrermEERTASRTE derivative financial instruments were determined based
ZAFEDNIREMBERSRE on discounted cash flow with unobservable inputs
FERATHERER (2 KA including revenue growth rates and risk adjusted
BRERERERFAEEIRE)E discount rate.
=
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3 HKEARERE®

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 AFEMEE (&) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) =HEE (&) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv)  1EEA R R LT R (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
&
R+t=A=t-Rz2 PN ¢
Bt ATE TUERGAYE (BEmiE) €8 TUBRGABBHEATHZBE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted)  unobservable inputs to fair value
ZE-NE O\ ZE-NE ZE\E
2019 2018 2019 2018
FEx TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000

Derivative financial instruments 8,247 7,788 Annual revenue growthrate ~ 0-125%  0-12.5%  If annual revenue growth rate increases, or

in relation to the interest in an FENARRE risk-adjusted discount rate decreases, the

associate Risk-adjusted discount rate 14.5% 13.5% fair value would increases; if annual revenue

BBER-ABELARR 2 ITE BRARERE growth rate decreases or risk-adjusted

tRIE discount rate increases, the fair value would

decrease.
WEEMAERELT SERAZHRE
BE AATEREEN WEERALRE
BEXRRABERE LA AATERE
Unlisted equity security 1,511 1,492 Annual revenue growth rate 4.0% 156.0% - If annual revenue growth rate or terminal
FETRAES ERHAERE 32.0%  growth rate increases, or risk-adjusted
(Note (i) discount rate decreases, the fair value
(#7#2(i))  would increase; if annual revenue growth
Terminal growth rate 2.0% 3%  rate or terminal growth rate decreases or
REERXR risk-adjusted discount rate increases, the
Risk-adjusted 17.1% 17.1% fair value would decrease.
discount rate WEERAEREFRBERE LA 5B
ElE RABKRERE AATEREEN: WE
ERAEREGGLERER KR ERADE
BRELA AATERSHES

Wi - Notes:

0] DA B R A g 2 HL 0] There were no significant inter-relationship between
EEHWRAFEBKEAY unobservable that materially affect fair value.
EBERNBEBE-

(ii) MERAFEANEZFH (ii) The average revenue growth rate covering the five-year

WAEBRERRI% (ZF
—N\F:24.4%) °

forecast period was 4% (2018: 24.4%).
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3 BXERERE®

3.3 AQTVEME (#F)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) THEE(E) (a) Financial assets (continued)

v)
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REAEEECEELE
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EBEZEMMSIGR
ZEEZHERRZH
ATEE K

. RS T 2 B E B
E(BEFHEEEED
RZBR)TBHAKHE
AR EERRE R NA

v)

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management

BEEZEEEREE- group.
J FIETRAZBSFZEE . Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth

NON T3 Ve
RRBELAT L
&R E o

FIBATHZBBRERE
R E BB R T
R R T AP - 65
BRERz— 85 HEHL
IRBATEED Y REH

4o

rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.
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(a) FERME
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BHREERRE
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CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is written down to net realisable value when
there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable
if those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become
wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.
The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between
the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In
determining whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all
means to which the amount will be recovered.

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will increase the depreciation
charge prospectively where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future periods.
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(b)

(c)

(d)
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group is required to evaluate at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Group should estimate the recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
excess of the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment
over their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is
determined at the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. The value in use is the present value of the cash
flows expected to arise from the continuing use of property, plant
and equipment and cash arising from its disposal at the end of its
useful life.

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instrument that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions see Note 3.3(a).

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts of the outcome will be estimated and adjustments
to the income tax expense and income tax liabilities will be made
accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(e)

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s reported financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group derives the following types of revenue:

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

HERDHEITER Sales and distribution of IT products 332,522 298,728
#iERRBZIE Repairs and service support 362 381
FEN N Total revenue 332,884 299,109

AEBTEREHERDHITERARRRITE
o 2 NS B EL A AR TS S4R

BESEARECREERLRARZHITES
(T893 E?J) WITESCREBERSMENR
RERRBARAE 2 EREEEEN AL -

HTEENERAETHAKEZRBALCH
REBEXBHERME T 2R E

(i) SUEE T S ITEE D SRR IR Bl
DR ERERRRIARDHE = ITE

(i) HEERRBE ZEBIBREEFE
AN M R H AR SR

BE_T-hER-_FT-N\F+-_HA=+—H
JJ:¢X' EDRIEHE - RBIBE T Z WA
E?ﬁﬁiﬁé%ﬁ”&m%ﬁﬂZﬁﬁﬁio

RERTERZABRA HEABEZHNERA
AT ARDEZERED - RERUHREE THH
ERAEBEE MR 2T R B EBEER LIS -

The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT
products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors examine the Group’s performance from a
product perspective, and have identified two reportable segments of the
Group’s business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: this part of business designs,
manufactures and markets video surveillance systems and
distributes third party IT products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products are provided under this part
of business.

No sales between segments are carried out during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity
is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash
position of the Group.

MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



=]

B} 75 SR ZR BT 5E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEER &)

DHWEETZEEME BEN&E  BURER
MEMBYWHARFE AREENBESAE
cNHWEBTIEREEMNERNEMBENRK-
HApREMNRE HERERARAG AF
BENBBYARDEEANZHH RE/ETD
BRPREEXN AR EEETER

IﬂiW

BE_ZT-NFT A=t -HILEFEIZ
BZRRERIT :

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment,
trade and other receivables and inventories. Corporate assets are
excluded from segment assets. Segment liabilities primarily comprise
trade and other payables. They exclude tax payables, lease liabilities and
corporate liabilities. Corporate assets and liabilities are not allocated to
the reportable segments as they are managed on a central basis or at
corporate level.

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2019 is as follows:

HER ®BER
DYITER R E Mt
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
REMNTFREL ZWA Revenue from external customers 332,522 362 332,884
LN s Time of revenue recognition
— R - At a point in time 332,522 - 332,522
— P — BRI — Over time - 362 362
55 EB 4 ) Segment profit 10,008 56 10,064
HRITERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 635
HEBEZFE Interest on lease liabilities (74)
FOBERARFBEYS (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (7,871)
45 R T Operating profit 2,754
FEREREARZ Share of net profit of an associate
FE {1 — FEI Bt & 8 R 4B R accounted for using the equity
method 625
FR B 15 30 A1 2 A Profit before income tax 3,379
FriefifF < Income tax expenses (890)
REE i Profit for the year 2,489
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5 oIER =) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
BE_T—NWEF+_A=Z+—HLEFERNZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
BzoEERmT: (&) 2019 is as follows: (continued)

BE-E-NF+ZA=Z+—-HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

HER BER
PHEITER MR X & ROE et
Sales and  Repairs and
distribution of service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME BERIEBHE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 105 - 2,263 2,368
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - - 1,349 1,349
FERERD Reversal of provision for inventories (51) = = (51)
WEFE Write-off of inventories 3 - - 3
REIRBEE Additions to non-current assets 97 - - 97
HER HER
DEITER AR X & @t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2RI HBEE Reportable segment assets 33,099 - 33,099
RAPBEAREE Unallocated corporate assets 117,586
REMBRARANZBEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 150,685
2RI HEME Reportable segment liabilities 14,867 - 14,867
FE B IR Tax payables 180
APBEARAEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 2,273
RAEMBRARRNZBEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 17,320
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5

DEER &)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

BE_T—N\F+_A=Z=+—HLEFEERNZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
AznHERNAT: 2018 is as follows:
HER #iER
D EEITE @ AR 7% X 1% “BEt
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FEIT FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
REINEERE ZHA Revenue from external customers 298,728 381 299,109
U N B 52 B R Time of revenue recognition
— R — At a point in time 298,728 = 298,728
—R—REH - Over time - 381 381
DE (BB, HF Segment (loss)/profit (1,409) 173 (1,236)
AT A E WA Interest income from bank deposits 233
KOBERARBEY (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (13,292)
1 E R Operating loss (14,295)
FREREARZ Share of net profit of an associate
FEAG — MBS & =) 4 7 accounted for using the equity
method 523
R P15 B4 AT B 48 Loss before income tax (13,772)
FrigFif < Income tax expenses (834)
ANEFEERE Loss for the year (14,606)
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DEER &)
Bz
B HBERMT : (&)

- N\F+ZA=Z+—BIEFERRZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2018 is as follows: (continued)

BE-T-\GF+ZA=1+—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2018

HEX wEX
o HITE @ AR 7% 2 % Pl M@t
Sales and Repairs and
distribution of service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FHET TFET FET FHET
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
ME BERIEBHE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 104 = 2,263 2,367
HEWE BERXBEIEE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 45 = = 45
JE N BR FOR B B B R Reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables (10) = = (10)
FERE Provision for inventories 1,517 = = 1,517
WEFE Write-off of inventories 110 = = 110
REFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 160 - - 160
HE R #iER
7 $HITE @ R 7% 2 & @t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A2/ BEE Reportable segment assets 18,997 - 18,997
ROBERAREE Unallocated corporate assets 128,915
REMBRARRNZBEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 147,912
A2 BEE Reportable segment liabilities 13,502 = 13,502
e B IR Tax payables 1,075
RAOMARBE Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,733
REMBARARAZRARE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 16,310

Kz ROBARRXE-RABREX  NHNTASH
& REMKRDEE—BRRITHEAX

Note: Unallocated corporate expenses represent general corporate expenses
such as executive salaries and other unallocated general and administrative

expenses.
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5 HDETER @ 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
AEBEXEHESEE  DHEBMNEFHABERE The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly with
B TRINTBEAEEERBLEMEBHRIEZR customers in North America, Asia and Europe. The amount of its revenue
SERFUBE D ZKRAITEFZBMALE from external customers broken down by location of the Group’s
RIERENEE A - customers and non-current assets based on countries where the Group’s

entities operate is shown in the table below.

REHNBEEZRA kRBEE
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
—g-n% -T-\F <—B-AF <—FTN\&
2019 2018 2019 2018
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
SIS North America 136,437 189,990 3 5)
2 Asia 104,531 37,953 6,419 8,158
BN Europe 90,980 69,415 136 22
JEM Africa 827 1,678 - -
A Other 109 73 - -
332,884 299,109 6,558 8,185
LATANER R F ARG AR B RU A 8110% &k T5R The following external customers individually contributing over 10% of the
REERDBITERD I : Group's total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of

IT products segment:

—E-NEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FE T

HK$°000 HK$ 000

XFEA Customer A 89,764 152,280

%FB Customer B 46,513 -

XFEC Customer C 43,008 -
N FEF A R EFRBIPAMLR10% © * Representing contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group

during the year.
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5 SEFEE 2

(@) &WEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinueq)

(a) Contract liabilities

AEBEERRATIEERPEHNCAE: The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to

contracts with customers:

—E-hEF —T-)N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BHABERSBITERZALNAME  Contract liabilities related to sales and

distribution of IT products 26 1,232
EHEBEERHNAMNEPRXNTNERME Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received from
FPUEBRHENREBE RZE—NFERZZ customers for goods that have not yet been delivered to the
—NE+-_A=+—H AHEABETER customers. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the contract
REREREHRERHEEITERRER X liabilities mainly included the advanced payments received from

5 YER B FR AN FROE o

(b) BANAFEBIZWA

individual customers for sales of IT products after the end of
respective reporting period.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

—Z-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
R—A—RZ&E#H Balance as at 1 January 1,232 6,883
REEBABFNFAGHNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABHEHNEERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (1,232) (6,832)
IWERTE T SR IB B B A A B EIG AN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advanced payments received 26 1,181
RTZA=T—RHZH#&& Balance as at 31 December 26 1,232
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6 HilwA 6 OTHER INCOME
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AU A Rental income 2,400 =
eI Az A FEKS Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 706 =
RITFERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 635 233
H A Others 119 19
3,860 252
7 BX(BRHEEESD) 7 EXPENSE BY NATURE
ZE-NF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
1% 25 6 B Auditors’ remuneration
— Bz — Audit services 600 979
—EEZR - Non-audit services 100 350
EFERA Cost of inventories sold 308,575 281,939
nEEHR Depreciation charge
— ¥ BB REE (Hat150a) — Property, plant and equipment (Note 15(a)) 2,368 2,367
—FERAEEEA: (HiE150)) — Right-of-use-assets included within: (Note 15(b))

—HELHREREY — Leasehold land and buildings 1,200 =

— % — Motor vehicles 149 -
SRIRIBEBR B S ERFEITROER Total minimum lease payments for leases

LEHE v HEREKBAERBLER previously classified as operating leases

under HKAS 17 - 2,316
EERMNAZ (BREFWNE) Employee benefits expenses,

(K7iE8) including directors’ emoluments (Note 8) 13,384 12,890
EHEERX (#z27) Short-term leases expenses (Note 27) 50 =
HEME BEERXBZER Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment - 45
FE 5 B8 5 58 Net foreign exchange loss 261 2,577
R—EBE AR 2w 2 REER Impairment loss on interest in an associate

(Htaz12) (Note 12) 603 -
FIEE (BERD) BE (Net reversal of provision)/net provision for

(BAIASEERAK) (H:220) inventories (included in cost of sales)

(Note 20) (51) 1,517
WeETE (KaE20) Write-off of inventories (Note 20) 3 110
FEUER SR B B E B (F72£719) Reversal of provision for impairment of

trade receivables (Note 19) - (10)
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8 EERIEX (BREEEME)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

—E-hF —T-N\HF

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fe ITEREMER Salaries, wages and other benefits 12,734 12,480
RN KA — A EHRETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 650 410
13,384 12,890

(a) BARE-FEM|KE (a)

FABESHRREEK(ZF-N\F:
&) -

RERBERAZERSIHHK (ZF
— J\4 : 35,0008 7T ) °

(b) EUMEESZAL (b)

HE-_Z-NF+-A=1+T—HIEFE"
AEBRAUMETERZ ATHIELERA A
T2 2S5 ATHEHERMFIOZHER-
HE-E-—N\E+=-A=+—BHItEE"
A (ZE—N\F: W) Megesz AL
PRE—REF - ZFEHRTALZH W

Pensions - defined contribution plans

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2018: Nil).

No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
(2018: HK$35,000).

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
none of them was directors of the Company whose emoluments
are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year ended 31
December 2019. The five highest paid individuals included one
director for the year ended 31 December 2018. The emoluments of
the five (2018: four) for the year are as follows:

S

—E-NEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

EAH ¢ EFEZL - HMERR R Basic salaries, housing allowances,
EYEF other allowances and benefits in kind 5,517 3,471
BAREKA - R EHERGTE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 303 250
5,820 3,721
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8 REETEFMX(BHFEEEM<) 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

(#) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) BEfEMEBEZAL(E) (b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
MesmENT: The emoluments fell within the following bands:
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
A& A&
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
MeEE (Fr) Emolument bands (in HK$)
£ %1,000,0005% 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 &
1,000,001,%8 7t £1,500,0007% 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3 1
5 4
FA-BEODACHE RS 2 AT During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
SERMA B B RHE- paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for

loss of office.
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9 EEM=E

EXEMomBENT:

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

BE-ZE-NAF+-A=+-HLEE

Directors’ emoluments is disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

EXmEk
BER B
ne 54 METL BOERN  FHiz#X o
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowances retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FEx Tz FEx FEx FEr FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTEE Executive directors
RARELE (ZE) (W) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) (Note (j) - 105 105 - - 210
B2H5E (M) Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (Note (i) = = = = = =
REAZT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan - - - - - -
BEREA (W) Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Note (i) - S S S S =
HEREL (i) Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis (Note (i) - 175 - - - 175
BRBEE (i) Mr. Cheng Michael Ichiang (Note (i) - 563 - - - 563
FUTES Non-executive director
BRERE (W) Mr. Kao Chao Yang (Note (i) - - S S S o
BUKHTES Independent non-executive directors
BEEEE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - - - - 120
TREEE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - - - - 120
MEALE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - - - - 120
360 843 105 - - 1,308
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9 EEMEw 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (ontinued)
BE_Z—\F+_A=+—HBLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
BERER
2R ks
we e Mg ENER  EHZHR @
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowances retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FET FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HiTES Executive directors

HEEE T (i) Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis (Note (i) = 420 = = = 420

SRERE (W) Mr. Chin Yin-Shen (Note (iv)) = = = = = =

BREBEE (W) Mr. Cheng Michael lchiang (Note (i) - 1,500 = = 16 1,516

REALT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan - - - = = =

FHTES Non-executive director

RIAREE (W) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Note () = - = = = =

BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors

BEERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 = - - - 120

THRELE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - = = - 120

HEREE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - - - - 120
360 1,920 - - 16 2,296

HitaE - Notes:

0] REZZE-—NFRA=+—HBHAEAERTES (i) Re-designated as executive director on 31 May 2019

(ii) RZZE—NFRA=T—HEZFE (ii) Appointed on 31 May 2019

iy R-E—AFRA=+—BET (i) Resigned on 31 May 2019

(ivy R=ZZFT—N\FtANBEIT (iv)  Resigned on 6 July 2018

HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HILFE AESE No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year

ENEXRABEREEAME (ZZ—NF:|) - ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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10 BA# AL A 10 FINANCE COSTS

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HERBEZHE Interest on lease liabilities 74 =

11 B A E 11

AEBR-_Z-NAF+_RA=+—BZEEH
BARBINMT -FRIEZBFAIE BTRIEERE
BRASEERRFE 2L B ZBRARMAEE
BREDILISENRARRTA 2R - MK
VAR A E TR SRR -

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 are set out
below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion
of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.
The place of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of

business.
MR B R TEEBR rEE
EREH EARRER EEHH ERTRAFE FEzRARERER
Place of Principal Particulars of

incorporation and activities and issued share Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity place of operation capital held by the Group
“E-hE —T-N\%
2019 2018
% %
CircuTech Investment RERTES REER E 100 100
Holdings (BVI) Limited ([RBREZEE]) Investment holding US$1
BRAA
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI’),
limited liability company
Signal Communications KBRS BRAA REER 15,000,000 T 100 100
Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company  Investment holding HK$15,000,000
MEBREFRAA BB BRRA REZR TERZHERDH BER 18T 100 100
GircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Hi PR & HKS$1
company Investment holdings, sales and
distribution together with repairs
and other service support of
IT products
MEBER (BE)ERDA BB BRAA TEMZHERDH #ER 1,000/ 7 100 100
CircuTech Enterprises Hong Kong, limited liability Hin g5 HK$1,000

(HK) Limited
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Sales and distribution together with
repairs and other service support of
IT products
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11 BﬁE YNCINE ) 11 SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)
SER A L i B TEEBR x&E
ERAB EABRER EEHY ERTRAFE FECREERES
Place of Principal Particulars of
incorporation and activities and issued share Ownership interest
Name of the entity kind of legal entity place of operation capital held by the Group
“B-NE ZT-N\E
2019 2018
% %
CircuTech Holdings Alliances wEBRAA TERZHEERDH 0.01BT 100 100
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands, Limited liability Sales and distribution of IT products EURO0.01
company
CircuTech Inc. B BRAA TERZHERDH 1,000% 7T 100 100
USA, limited liability company  Sales and distribution of IT products US$1,000
TERMBAERRA BB BRAF BEEZZG HERAERHER 1,000 7T 100 100
Signal Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability minHE HK$1,000
company Research and development and
sales and marketing of video
surveillance systems
AEERBRE (RIDBERRE FE-HNEEE ITEE 2 18 R B At FR 5 2 1R 5,000,000/ 7T 100 100
PRC, wholly-owned foreign Repairs and other service support of HK$5,000,000
enterprise IT products
12 R—HEHREAT 2 Em 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
—B-nE —T-)\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Rn—H—H As at 1 January 6,958 =
g Acquisition - 6,569
FEAE —MAEEE DRI ER Share of results of an associate 625 523
RIEEE Impairment loss (603) =
N = Exchange differences (239) (134)
6,741 6,958
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138

R—REBEQAT 2R )

TXHEIAEBR - ZT—-AF+-_A=+—~H
ZEBBERT - TXANBBZBRAEHRARR
RIS 2 TR ARAR A o SETA SZ st M B K
MRETELEME MBI HAEERL
DI BRI =R L PIAR R

12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2019. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.

EESUH 4
BEREB AL B R BELE FEAE BEEERLH
Place of
Name of business/country of Nature of Measurement % of
the entity incorporation relationship method ownership interest
“E-hE —ZT—N\F
2019 2018
4Square Return GmbH Germany Associate (Note (i) Equity method 21% 21%
=& B DR (HEE)) &%
K aE3) Note (i)

ZHMERREE (LEERFSRN BAREFITE)K
FAREN RUEEREHRY  WEREEKRT
EEBEHERE DR AaBEERED REERE
BREFERFR ARSBABEER-

The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the provision of
sales and marketing services, collecting and take back services, asset remarketing
services, recycling, commodities aggregation and trading, certified waste electrical
and electronic equipment disassembly, and metals separation and concentration,
in particular, in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.
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12

R—EBEQATZ2ER 2
K1 aE (i)

RZZE—N\FRANB AKETVESHE MBYL
AT U 8E4Square Return GmbH ([4Square | ) 2 31T
AR 2 21%4E 2 - & KRB A1,600,0008 7T (HHERHD
14,508,000/ 7T )  fE AR - ALBR U B HG %
15 ()4SquareZ 21%% 4 + BX 7N /36,569,0007% 7T X (i) —
19 RN B i I B o) A4 - A T{E4Y /57,939,000 7T © 7%
BREVR=ZZF—N\FLtA+NLBZEK-

RE RS AEBRITE AR BIER R R ETERE
FREFE 2 TE B EASquare 2 FT A 8 T IR « 1T1£ 58
ThB4Square RN BRI B E—T_=F—A=+—HIEF
BREBERREVBREEHABEEZTHENERAZ
EERAER ([RBUEHE]) - wA% BN RE SR
B JE % A0 AR 1T (56 SRS B - Rll4SquareE th IR A IR
HAERERESNEES =EAARNE LD RNEE R
4Squaref Fr A B% 17 - L& A1,600,0008K 7T« 1R B & 7
ISR ERIFo5%  RE M R B D HERER BB
HEREAFEINEZE-—BEITESMIA-

RE KA AR S BN e B BB (54Square ] 25 &
ERAENRTFEFENLED DERRBE Lt AR
—HBE AT 2

REZE-Z-NFT A=+ HLFEHEEFD
625,000 7T (= F — /\ 4 : 528,000 7T) (AMAKHE
FER S & DRI

B £ (i)

ERRABZ BRI ARRBELERRE M BT
BRA RS HERKE D AFEZ

RENR - 4SquareZ AT B LEH AR RIEEIR
BERAEEFEF ATV 2 EEELETHERB
ERARETZEEGEMERT - T EFERN
EEEMERE-FHNMKEESERNR
SREEA - =FHU EWRSTREFEAE T
RR5% (ZF—\F :5%)HE  MZERERT
RIEABITESRESE  BYEBHEE AR
REMEEFNFHRABER A EPRAN
BATBEIR K B14.5% (—ZF— \F:13.5%) °

R-ZZT—hAFE+-_A=+—8 R LT G -
4SquareZ BREIME (BRI ERT) RN ERIKE S
BoH AR —HBERR 2 EE 2 HER
{E/E518603,0008 7L (=T — \F : &) RIBRE

2|
o ©

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Note (i)

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH (“4Square”)
from independent parties by cash consideration of EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,508,000). In return, the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity
interest in 4Square at a cost of HK$6,569,000 and (ii) a call option and buy-back
option at fair value of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares of 4Square in
the exercise period at an exercise price determined in accordance with the terms
set out in shareholders’ agreement. The exercise period is from the date that the
audited consolidated financial statements of 4Square for year ending 31 January
2023 are filed in Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before the expiry of
Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders may buy-back all of the
shares in the 4Square held by the Group within three months from the expiry of the
Call Option Period for the consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-
back option were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date of acquisition was
recognised as goodwill and included the interest in an associate.

A profit of approximately HK$625,000 representing the Group’s share of results of the
associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$523,000).

Note (i)

The financial statements of the above company is not audited by BDO Limited or any
of its member firms

During the year, the recoverable amount of 4Square was determined by
the directors of the Company based on value-in-use calculations with
reference to a professional valuation performed by Flagship Appraisals
and Consulting Limited. The calculation used cash flow projection based
on the financial budget approved by management covering a three-year
period. The cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated
using a steady growth rate of 5% (2018: 5%), which is based on the
relevant industry growth rate and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the business in which the associates operate. The pre-tax
discount rate adopted in the calculation is 14.5% (2018: 13.5%).

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of 4Square, before
impairment, is higher than its recoverable amount based on the above
assessment. Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill included in
interests in an associate of HK$603,000 (2018: Nil) was recognised in
profit or loss.
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12 R—HEBE L T 2R 2 12
BEATSHEENBE

TERBIBERARZIHBERNME -AREZE
IR AR R 2 AR 2 SR B IS MR AT 2580
S8 MIFADBERERERAREBENERH
S RFLHECTER URREREMAEDS
ERAEZHE BRIMEABRREZEMEZE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)

Summarised financial information for an associate

The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and
not CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts.
They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity

HIS when using the equity method, including modifications for differences in
accounting policy.
—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReRReEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 7,896 5,355
HEfihmEEE Other current assets 29,548 32,684
BREEE Total current assets 37,444 38,039
SERBEE Non-current assets 36,218 20,898
RBEE Current liabilities (37,296) (38,498)
ERMEBEE Non-current liabilities (13,665) =
EEEME Net assets 22,701 20,439
ER BRI B < #18R Reconciliation to carrying amount:
REG/WERBBHZEEFE Net assets at beginning of the year/
acquisition date 20,439 18,338
KEE /B T Profit for the year/period 2,976 2,498
N =5 Exchange differences (714) (397)
FREEFE Closing net assets 22,701 20,439
AEBEREZBES L Group’s share in % 21% 21%
AEBEN G2 &5 Group’s share in amount 4,767 4,292
[k Goodwill 2,115 2,718
[ 5 Z= 5 Exchange differences (141) (52)
BRTH (B Carrying amount 6,741 6,958
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12 R—EBEQXTR 2ES () 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)
BEANRAZHBEERBE (&) Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)

=S BUEAHE

—E-hEF —E-N\F
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+-—H
IHEE 1EHARE
For the
period from
For the year acquisition
ended date to
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 102,936 47,559
e REH Depreciation and amortisation (3,593) (634)
FERX Interest expense (1,093) (285)
BB Tax expenses (1,388) (770)
RNEE AR F R E A2 Profit and other comprehensive income
for the year/period 2,976 2,498
RZZE—NEFE+-A=+—08 BEEELAEE There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
R—EBEQ AR ZIARBE (T —N\F: associate on 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). As at 31 December 2019,
E) R_E—NF+_A=+—H AXEEWL the Group has no share of capital commitments of an associate (2018:
EREL—ERERARZERAFRE(ZT—N\F: Nil).
&) o
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13 FISHiMAxX 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES
B (BB 2B RANF E bt ERR S Taxation on profit/(loss) has been calculated on the estimated assessable
MAEBR)BRANEELYEMERR R ZE profit/(loss) for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/
ARG E - places in which the Group operates.
—E-hF —N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
EHBiE Current tax
—Zl§¢ IR — Tax for the year 810 834
- BAEFERETL — Under provision in respect of prior year 80 -
890 834
AEBMERBBIEFR (BB BmzHE: The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical
HBRARADEEERER (BE)ERZE amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.5% (2018:
ABE16.5% (ZE—N\F:16.5% ) FLHER 16.5%) applicable to profit/(loss) of the majority of the consolidated
SREIEEPT: entities as follows:
—E-hEF —N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
B BT {3 B Al A1, (&5 18) Profit/(loss) before income tax 3,379 (13,772)
BE B E16.5% Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%
T— )\ :16.5% ) 5 E 2 HI1BE (2018: 16.5%) 558 (2,272)
M—I—Klﬁzﬂﬁ’zﬁf 2. Tax effects of:
—BART 2 WA - Income not subject to tax (105) (87)
—BE AR 2WMER (NKRFIIE) - Associate’s result reported net of tax (103) (131)
— TR HNBRZ - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,122 443
— BN E 2 =58 — Difference in overseas tax rates 659 (663)
— Rl Rfire — Effect of special tax exemption (165) -
—AERZEREZBHETE — Tax effect of temporary differences not
recognised (970) -
— B RATRERHIEEER — Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses (1,428) (550)
- BAEFERETT — Under provision in respect of prior year 80 -
—RERGEEBEEZMEFZ — Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,178 4,026
—H Al - Others 64 68
FIEHi A% Income tax expenses 890 834
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14 BRER EHE

141 SRELXBR (F#E)

14 EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE
14.1 Basic earnings/(loss) per share
BRERARBHN (BE)IERARRAES

ANEEEF (BB BAR A BFE
BOTEINEBBRZNBEFOHETE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/
(loss) attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial

year:
—E-hE —T-)N\F
2019 2018
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEREARER, (BE)FAZ  Profit/(loss) attributable to the ordinary
AAREREREE ARG equity holders of the Company used in
sw L (E1E) calculating basic earnings/(loss) per share 2,489 (14,601)
AEEREAAF (BB Weighted average number of ordinary
RED & 2 EmAR i F 15 8 shares used as the denominator in
(FR) calculating basic earnings/(loss)
per share ("000) 23,434 23,434
RAREBERFTA AEWN Basic earnings/(loss) per share
BRERAEF, (E8) attributable to the ordinary equity holders
(& R2EAN) of the Company (HK cents per share) 10.62 (62.31)

14.2 BEREBHERR (FA) 14.2 Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
BN S I A BT TIE INB TR AR () -
WEREERT (B8 ERTRER
ABF,/(EE) (ZZ—N\F :8R) -

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is equal to basic earnings/(loss)
per share as there was no dilutive potential share outstanding
during the year (2018: same).
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(@) M* BERRHE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Property, plant and equipment

HENE BRR BAE
#E £E B e @t
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FAET FET FAET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BEZ-E2-N\E& Year ended 31 December 2018
TZA=+-HLEE
FNREDFE Opening net book value 54 57 116 10,184 10,411
EXZR Exchange differences - - (1) - ()
NE Additions 113 2 45 - 160
WEER (Kit7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (34) (16) (54) (2,263) (2,367)
HE Disposals (36) 9) = = (45)
FREMFE Closing net book value 97 34 106 7,921 8,158
RZE-N§ At 31 December 2018
+t=A=t+-8
B A Cost 113 172 1,041 11,315 12,641
ZEHE Accumulated depreciation (16) (138) (935) (3,394) (4,483)
REFE Net book value 97 34 106 7,921 8,158
BZE-E-N% Year ended 31 December 2019
+tZA=+-HLEFE
FNREDFE Opening net book value 97 34 106 7,921 8,158
ERER Exchange differences - = (1) - (1)
NE Additions - - 23 - 23
WEEBR (#i7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (37) (13) (55) (2,263) (2,368)
HE Disposals - - () - @)
FREREEE Closing net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
R-ZE-1%§ At 31 December 2019
+=A=t+—-H
B Cost 113 172 1,058 11,315 12,658
EEiN Accumulated depreciation (53) (151) (988) (5,657) (6,849)
REFE Net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
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15 ME - -BERSZHE® 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(b) FEHRAEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
T REF RE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
RZZT—AhE—A—H At 1 January 2019 (Note 2.2(a))
(Ktit2.2(a)) 1,736 277 2,013
A= Addition 74 - 74
WeEBRH (Kit7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,200) (149) (1,349)
R Exchange differences - (6) (6)
R=ZF—hhE+=-H=+—H At31 December 2019 610 122 732
WERMX3,717,0008 T (=T — )\ F: Depreciation expense of HK$3,717,000 (2018: HK$2,367,000) has been
2,367,000 ) BT A [TTEAX ] © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 TR T A (REHE )

AEEFHAATZMTA:

16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

—E-hEF —E—-)\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BE Assets
TEeRmIT A Derivative financial instruments 8,247 7,788
FREMEHKSEAFEINEZ Financial asset at fair value through other
EMEE comprehensive income 1,511 1,492
RBAERAYNEZEREE Financial assets at amortised cost
JE 5 B R % L it FE WK Trade and other receivables
(T EEEMNZRE) (excluding prepayments) 1,493 6,278
R R SR IT R Restricted bank deposits 31,220 31,220
HekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 63,021 72,369
8@ Liabilities
REHARIEZREE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
& AT BR R % H At & A< R Trade and other payables (excluding other tax
(B 48 H i FE B 18 % payables and accrued employee benefits)
fEstE B RA) 13,906 13,022
HEAE Lease liabilities 767 =

AEEHEBMIMAESRTASHNZIAR
% o 3RS B R B A i oK (5 & R Bt A & Bt
BHEeRmEE ZIREE-

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of
financial assets mentioned above.
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17

18

fTESm T A 17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
—ZE-hF —T—)\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER —HBEA AR ERZ Derivative financial instruments in relation to the
PTESRT A (KaF120)) interest in an associate (Note 12(if) 8,247 7,788
(i) A2AFHEFE (i) Fair value measurement
BREBEMNETIARATEMAZAERR For information about the methods and assumptions used in
2 ER BLBMFES.S . determining the fair value of derivative please refer to Note 3.3.
(i) REZABRRIZEE (ii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
RAFERN - TEeMIAZAFESE The change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
5 B 7E8.3(a) i) © during the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

PTESB T AT ARITEHE - The derivative financial instruments are denominated in EUR.
BBHMEEWERAFEFE 18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
ZEMEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ZRHMEZ2EAWEZRAFEIEZESREE Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive

income

—ZE-hF —T—)N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

B N Unlisted equity security 1,511 1,492
AEEREEE2EAKRZTABRA TEKSZ During the year, a fair value gain of HK$19,000 (2018: HK$30,000) was

19,000/ 7T ( == —/J\ £ : 30,000/ 7T ) ° recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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19 EWERF R H il EUW R 19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

F#ET FEr

HK$’000 HK$’000

& W R 3R Trade receivables 992 5,801

o & E b fE UK Deposits and other receivables 501 477

REHKASNEZERMEE Financial assets at amortised cost 1,493 6,278

FEAS 5B Prepayments 1,062 1,322

JiE U BR 3k & H b B W SR 4R KR Total trade and other receivables 2,555 7,600
AEBKRIBOEE AR SHET - FpSBRLY The majority of the Group’s sales are on cash basis. The remaining
ZEEHBENT15245H -RZZE—NF+= amounts are with credit terms generally ranging from 15 to 45 days. At
A=+—H BUERREZHHZERERS TN 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based

N on invoice date were as follows:

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

F#ET FET

HK$’000 HK$°000

1EAA Within 1 month 735 5,239

2& 38 A 2 to 3 months 255 432

3fE A A E Over 3 months 2 130

992 5,801
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19 FEURBR AR R E fth B WK ()
(a) ERWERKER

B AN 7 A W B A 18 51 FE U SR B B N
R B T (B HR 8

AN AEERAE LY B R E ERFWR
LA ERMEREER BB RK
EREALHRNEREE EHRBKE
FORERHE  BUCRFOREREZE B IA R
AEBEHZEERRRIMNERR 2EF
WEENIFES.A ©

BB B 18 K H 18 Uk [B] 5 AT s 2 TR R
PEWERTTRAS] AER-
REZERZZLHE
RAFEE HEREZEREREINE
BERBHERD (22— N\F: EWREX
BB B 10,0008 L) ©

(b) EWERIZEHEHMEKRZAFE

B RE KRB B E  HAREE K
BAEERE N FEARR -

20 &

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)

(a) Impaired trade receivables

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
provision for impairment of trade receivables movement of
provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in
Note 3.1.

Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income within “administrative expenses”.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2018:
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade receivables of
HK$10,000).

(b) Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

20 INVENTORIES

—E-hEF —T—)N\F

2019 2018

FrET FE& T

HK$’000 HK$'000

R A % Raw materials - 781
BUpK i Finished goods 30,849 11,546
30,849 12,327

HE-_Z-hE+_BA=+—"BLFE
& 77 8 5k 308,575,000 7T (= & — )\ £ :
281,939,000/ yt ) ~ 17 & # 5 # [6151,0007% 7T
(ZZ—N\F:FEEHE1,517,000% 7T ) K il 85
£ &3,0008 L (=ZF — /A4 : 110,000 7T) 5
FURRILIA [HERA] - R=ZZ—NEF+=
A=+—H FE## /2,301,0008 T (=%
— )\ £ : 2,352,000 T ) °

Cost of inventories sold of HK$308,575,000 (2018: HK$$281,939,000),
reversal of inventory provision of HK$51,000 (2018: inventory provision of
HK$1,517,000) and write off of inventories amounted to HK$3,000 (2018:
HK$110,000) were recognised and included in “cost of sales” during the
year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the provision
for inventories amounted to HK$2,301,000 (2018: HK$2,352,000).
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21 ReERAEEEY 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—ZE-hF —T-N\HF
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERS Cash on hand 6 11
RITHES Cash at bank 52,965 47,358
5 HIRITE Short-term bank deposits 10,050 25,000
63,021 72,369
R-ZE—NAF+_A=+—8 SHEBTEIX As at 31 December 2019, the short-term bank deposits bear interest
BENT1.90%22.76% (T —N\F : KEF ranging from 1.90% to 2.76% per annum (2018: at 1.85% per annum)
1.85%):t 8 EIHAA=ZEAR  HIABRE K with maturity date within three months, and were therefore included in
ReEZEEY- cash and cash equivalents.
22 RRA 22 SHARE CAPITAL
R &E [REN
Number of shares Share capital
—B-AF =2 N\E —B-NF —E-N\F
2019 2018 2019 2018
FiE T FET FET
000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEZITRER Issued and fully paid
R—A—BR+ZA=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687
(a) ZER (a) Ordinary shares
TRRZ2AEAR208 T - EFHFEA Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
EH2HERERIZMFRNDEE RZH& holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
B2 Bl D AR a)ER 21§ RIE - of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and

amounts paid on the shares held.

RRARZEFERANER - /80,000,000 The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
JT° HK$80,000,000.

(b) HER#E (b) Options
BE T NFHEIRERE 2 &R &R Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
FE25 © 25.
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23 Hibf#E 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRINTHMBRAKRIBEE [EMEE] 2AAR The following table shows a breakdown of the statement of financial
ZERBRAFEZ2EY SRBCEERRAE position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these reserves
A E R & during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve

is provided below the table.

EBRHM
2ENE
RATESE
KB EE ERGE BRIGE 2oREE @z
Financial
Share  Translation Special asset at
premium reserve reserve FVOCI Total
fia T Tz TET THET T
Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

RZE-\E—A—H At 1 January 2018 183,006 250 14,990 - 198,246
rEEHMmEERS Other comprehensive income for the year
BEBNEBEECERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (1,981) - - (1,981)
FREMEZAKERLTESEL Changes in the fair value of equity investment
EaREsDTEE at fair value through other comprehensive
income 18 = = = 30 30
R-E-N\E+-A=+-HER At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
—E-n1E-A-H 183,006 (1,731) 14,990 30 196,295
FEEEM2ENE Other comprehensive income for the year
HREGNEBELZERZS Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (693) - - (693)
BREMEARERATESIEL Changes in the fair value of equity investment
EaREzATERY at fair value through other comprehensive
income 18 - - - 19 19
RZE-NEF+-A=1+—-A At 31 December 2019 183,006 (2,424) 14,990 49 195,621
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24
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HiREE 2
HiEE o rERmR
S

AEBEZERHEBEDERER _TT—FMA
ETEEEERRBAZHBRRAF ZBA
HEERNRFAHERTRAERSEBREZ@ER
EZER-

SERE

BEBISIEEREANELZRRNEMER
Wk FERR (ANPH 2.6 ) R i 28 ) B8 08 A 8
Rt - R ENHERBEFEREN O EES
T K o

23 OTHER RESERVES (continuea)

Nature and purpose of other reserves
Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Foreign currency translation

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity
are recognised in other comprehensive income as described in Note 2.6
and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The cumulative
amount is reclassified to statement of comprehensive income when the
net investment is disposed of.

ZstEE 24 ACCUMULATED LOSSES
BitEEZEZEIT - Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
—E-NEF —T-N\F
2019 2018
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
) 4 85 Opening balance (68,889) (54,288)
HXIERB B MRS 2R FE 165 Initial application of HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2(a))
(HtiE2.2(a)) (48) -
(68,937) (54,288)
REEZmA,/ (EE) Profit/(loss) for the year 2,489 (14,601)
HR 4 85 Closing balance (66,448) (68,889)
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25 LURHBABERSRK 25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

RoB—AE+—A+— BRMZBRESS
([=B— AT WBRESE])

RER-_F—R"F+—-A+—BBBIRER
RRABERA T —NFEIRET S BARER R
HEBRERSBREHARTMELER  XAAR
RAIRERERER TER EABRBBRIDMP AR
BEFEINEE HAEHNEMYAB+E-ARAESE
EAREREMNEE (BRAKE ZHITRIE
HMITES BRAA BR ZERER -2#HE K
B ABR HER TP BEBHERBHE
) &R IARB AR R

RE-_T-A"EBREFITERL ZBRE
B B 2 Bt #8800 DS R 22 =) A E A s
BTN 210% - REARRAIRRFLILE
RAER—FRREMALRLRAIERLD 2B
BAEFE R ZBEBETRETETZROEE - T
SEBB AR RN EREED ETRN Z21% ° M
MEBERRABIIFATESR L 2 BRER
BN B Z0.1%5 E B {E#E#15,000,0007%
TT BEEBRISA R BRI -

BREATARBUETRL Y ERNE L A HE
SAEARERA-BRETNREZSAEETE 2B
MARERTE - EARHE A GBEERRE A H
Et+F-RBEDHEEFSET BTFSER
TH&EE: (\ARAKRMNFEHBH (BAS
RHH)REFERERMBWTE : (i)A2E KR
PREEZEREHBEHMAEXZ B ESHARESR
Fr ¥k 2 W E : sk 2 R 2 HfE

BEM—T— NFRERES AL SERY
Bk

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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FE A4 BR 30 K HL i BB A =X

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—g-nE  —TN\&

2019 2018

FET FH&T

HK$’000 HK$'000

J& 1< BR 3K Trade payables 11,796 10,290
Bz e Deposit received 600 =
Efh AR IE Other tax payables 902 680
FriRBRAREMENRK Accruals and other payables 3,049 3,033
16,347 14,003

HAREBEREE  ENRAEEMENRZE
EEHEKASEEATFERARN R+tZA=+—
B ENERREZEBHZERESITET

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to
be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At 31
December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date were are follows:

—E-NEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

1EAA Within 1 month 11,796 10,288
2Z318 A 2 to 3 months - =
& A LA E Over 3 months - 2
11,796 10,290

HE

ERUBREENEI6RER T - NF—A—
HEM YEEILBEF -BRER TN
F-A-BEAZEBEEERZ@EE F2HKH
F220@ RERERABEH-_Z-hh&E—HF—H
BIERZ ST BRI EN I E2.26A -

HEFSH2ME (UMEBEAZEH)

AEERNEZEEMERZEREES THREH
NI BERHEHME -

HA BRI A RBENEFE AEEE K
B REkAEHENHANESEENK-

27 LEASES

HKFRS 16 was adopted 1 January 2019 without restatement of
comparative figures. For an explanation of the transitional requirements
that were applied as at 1 January 2019, see Note 2.2(a). The accounting
policies applied subsequent to the date of initial application, 1 January
2019, as disclosed in Note 2.26A.

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group leases a number of properties with a fixed periodic rent over
the lease term in the jurisdictions from which it operates.

In some contracts for services with distributors, those contracts contain a
lease of vehicles. Leases of plant, equipment and vehicles comprise only
fixed payments over the lease terms.
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27 MHE #) 27 LEASES (continueq)
HEEN B E &K
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
#H FET
—ZE-hE+=HA=+-—H 31 December 2019 Number HK$’000
BENRZWERE Property leases with fixed payments 3 639
MERE Motor vehicle leases 1 128
FERAEEE Right-of-use assets
EHBEERMNE S 2 ERBEEEREAES N The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
U underlying asset is as follows:
—E-hEF —E-NF
+=A=+-8 —A—A
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERBEEYME Properties leased for own use 610 1,736
B Motor vehicles 122 277
732 2,013
HEaE Lease liabilities
T RiEF RE a5t
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
—E-AFE+=-A=+—H 31 December 2019 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
NE Additions 74 - 74
FERX Interest expenses 63 11 74
HERK Lease payments 1,276 161 1,437
MEH =5 Exchange differences 1 (6) (5)
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27 #HE» 27 LEASES (continueq)
HEaE (&) Lease liabilities (continued)
RRBEEFRHEEBERAT Future lease payments are due as follows:
REHAEMNRK FE HE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—E-AF —E-NF —E-NEF
+=A +=A +=A
=+—H =+—H Er=—F
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2019 2019
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—5R Not later than one year 772 14 758
—FRETHBBMWE Later than one year and
not later than two years 9 - 9
781 14 767
=IEAE K & A
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—T-NF —ZT-NF —ZET-NF
— g— g — §—RgaE — F—RgME
1 January 1 January 1 January
201 gnols 201 gnole 201 9nate
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
—&FR Not later than one year 1,422 74 1,348
—FERBETBAME Later than one year and
not later than two years 724 11 713
2,146 85 2,061
Wit AEEERBREFZEEZERNEABTBMBRE Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect approach
AR E165  WHE-T—NGF—A—H2H1 and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease
HEARAEREAMREBEESSHEAFE TR liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases
RCEHEZHERBEZEERE- under HKAS 17.
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27 MHE #)

ARBEMNKZBEINMOT

27 LEASES (continued)

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as:

—E-hEF —T-N\F

2019 2018

FET FE

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

REAE Current liabilities 758 1,348
FEmBEE Non-current liabilities 9 713
767 2,061

—E-hF

2019

FET

HK$’000

SHEERX Short term lease expenses 50
ROV HAR EREARE Aggregate undiscounted commitments for short term leases 31
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28 EEFTBH 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
REHIBEERBREHBEAE (Rt KA —H% The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, without
AEER AR EE) 2T taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, is as follows:

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FE

HK$’000 HK$’'000

REFIEEE Deferred tax assets: 406 1,056

BREHIEAE: Deferred tax liabilities: (406) (1,056)

EEF IR FE Deferred tax, net = =

28.1 EZEHEEE 28.1 Deferred tax assets

EHRBEUNTSHEEG 2SR EER: The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

—E-NEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

MIAEE Tax losses 406 1,056
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28 EIEFTEH &)

281 EEHBEEE (£)

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continueq)

28.1 Deferred tax assets (continued)

#E Movements

BRIEEIE
Tax losses
FHET
HK$'000

At 31 December 2017
Charged to profit or loss

1,317
(261)

At 31 December 2018
Charged to profit or loss

1,056
(650)

R-ZZE-N&E+ZA=+—-H

At 31 December 2019

406

28.2 EEMEBBERE 28.2 Deferred tax liabilities

BHBERNATSERGZERIEEZR:

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

—ZE-hF —E-N\F

2019 2018

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

IR IETE Accelerated tax depreciation 406 1,056
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28 IEEFIEH (2

28.2 EEHEEME (&)

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continueq)

28.2 Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

#E Movements
B E
wE
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
FET
HK$'000
R—_E—+&+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2017 1,317
FFABE Credit to profit or loss (261)
RZE—NF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 1,056
FFAEE Credit to profit or loss (650)
R-Z—-hE+=HA=t+—H At 31 December 2019 406
28.3 HIEEE 28.3 Tax losses

—E-hEF —T-)N\&F
2019 2018
F#ET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000

RERELEFHIBEEZ Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
REERMIBEE asset has been recognised 43,208 73,788

BEASBEEREEMEEANZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEGFE 2 EBERGE N which the Group’s entities operate 7,401 13,575
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28 ELEFREH (2 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
28.3 BIEEIE (£) 28.3 Tax losses (continued)
RAEAKBEBEHATERTERARTE The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies that
EERRBBAZAEEBRREL-FH are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future.
EHRATIBEEBZENRRAEHREL 2 See Note 28.1 for information about recognised tax losses and
B E R 28 1 KMl fE4(d) R Note 4(d) for significant judgements made in relation to income tax.
—NEF+ZRA=+—H KBAKRIEBEEIE As at 31 December 2019, the unused tax losses are as follows:
NS
—E-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FET FEo
HK$’000 HK$’000
RLAT F 1758 : Expiry date in:
—E-—%F 2021 338 1,900
—F-— 2022 280 267
—EC-=F 2023 219 291
—E_PUF 2024 273 -
—E-RE 2025 270 -
—EZRF 2026 126 235
—E-+F 2027 2,281 9,451
—E-)N\F 2028 1,172 1,269
—E-NF 2029 1,438 -
EEIHA No expiry date 36,811 60,375
43,208 73,788
29 A 29 DIVIDENDS
EEeTMRENEBEEZE=_E—NLF+=A=1+— The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ALEFEZRE(ZTE—NF:E)- ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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162

ReERnEEH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

REEE (FR) / BEEzBE Cash (used in)/generated from operations
—g-ha%  —TN\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRETE B AN F, (E51E) Profit/(loss) before income tax 3,379 (13,772)
BRTHIEEELAE: Adjustments for:
ME- - BERRBEZITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,368 2,367
FTREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,349 =
FIEE (BERD) EE (Net reversal of provision)/net provision for
inventories (51) 1,517
s FE Write off of inventories 3 110
FE WBR FORE B Reversal of provision for impairment of
trade receivables - (10)
B 75 B 7R Finance costs 74 =
PTESBMT Az AFERE Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments (706) -
R—EBE ARz #m 2 RERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 603 =
RITFERFE A Interest income from bank deposits (635) (233)
HEME - BERKEZEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment - 45
fFREREANR 2B Share of net profit of an associate accounted
— [ A A AL A for using the equity method (625) (523)
BELECEBAT 2K ERT, (EE)  Operating profit/(loss)
before working capital change 5,759 (10,499)
CEEERBEZE Change in operating assets and liabilities
FE (#Emn), R (Increase)/decrease in inventories (18,474) 88,931
FEUR R R A RE W FUR A (8 1)  Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables 5,045 (5,805)
FET BRI H b e FE A0, R 4>)  Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables 2,344 (565,788)
AHAECRY) N (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (1,206) 1,277
KEER (TR EEZ2EE Cash (used in)/generated from operations (6,532) 18,116
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30 ReEREER ») 30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continueq)
RIFERERERAN HEDNE BERREZ In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of
e ERE: property, plant and equipment comprise:

—E-hE —T—N\F
2019 2018
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BREFE (A at15(a)) Net book amount (Note 15(a)) 3 45
HEME MEMXEZEIE (A7727) Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (Note 7) - (45)
HEME WERZHZFERIE Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment 3 -

31 RERERME 31 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
MEXBELECBBEYR Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:
HEAE
Lease liabilities
Hiit27
Note 27
FET
HK$'000
R=-Z=—h&—H—H At 1 January 2019 2,061
RenELH: Changes from cash flows:
EEHEaBE AR D Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,363)
EEHEaGBE 2N EHXD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (74)
MERSREL B Total changes from financing cash flows: (1,437)
ME SR % Exchange adjustments: (5)
H s : Other changes:
AE Additions 74
HEF Lease interests 74
HiEe)@s Total other changes 148
RZE—NhFE+=ZA=+— At 31 December 2019 767
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32

33

164

ZREBITER 32 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
F#ET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
PR HI$R 1T 15 3K Restricted bank deposits 31,220 31,220

R-ZZE—NF+-—A=+—8 BBETFLAEERZ
#R 77 @ & 8,000,000k 7t (18 & M £762,440,000
77T ) B 2 SRITFE 5 A 494,000,000 ¢ (HE
7 #4931,220,000770) (== —/\4F : 4,000,000
ZE T (BE RN 431,220,000 7T) ) - AN EE R
HE-_T-NF+-_A=+—BLURFEIR
BIRITRMENR —2EERELERAERE -2
PRl SR 77 45 82 B35 177 B TE #i7F 5% 280,600,000
BT (ZZF—)\4 : 30,182,000/ 7T ) * EFX A
1.9% (ZE—NF:HFF1.5%) R_T-_TF
—REB(ZE—N\F:ZFT—-—NF=H)-

REBEZ-_T-NAFT_A=+—RIEFE K&
BEEETHRITREZIMBERN (ZF—N\F:
R

As at 31 December 2019, a bank deposit of approximately
US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,220,000) (2018:
US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,220,000)) was
pledged for bank facility amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$62,440,000) granted to the Group. Such bank facility
was drawn by the Group to issue a standby letter of credit to a vendor in
the financial year ended 31 December 2019. Included in restricted bank
balance is HK$30,600,000 (2018: 30,182,000) placed as fixed deposit at
an interest rate of 1.9% per annum (2018: 1.5% per annum) with maturity
in January 2020 (2018: February 2019).

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its banking
facilities during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: same).

BEALRS 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) ®/2AFA (a) Parent entities
AREBHUTEEZE : The Group is controlled by the following entities:
LR NN R £
BEBEEEEZ [ NE=
RERERB g4 R4 E (%)
Percentage of
the issued share
Name of Number of capital of
Shareholders shares held/ the Company
Capacity Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited BEmEA A 11,853,524 50.58%
Beneficial owner
BBEE LERMD AR AR S E E 11,858,524 50.58%

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd.

HtaE © Foxconn (Far East) Limited & /845% T
E¥RMBERARZEZANBAR -

Interest in controlled corporation

Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co. Ltd..
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33 BEALIXRZ & 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b) FEEBABZHE (b) Key management personnel compensation
FTEZEBREREES (BT FEHITRE Key management includes directors (executive, non-executive and
VBT MEFREERBENNKE independent non-executive). The compensation paid or payable
NEZEBEZ@HENRAT: to key management for directors and employee services is shown

below:
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FekHMEHBEEER Salaries and other short-term employee
benefits 1,308 2,296
(c) HEBEALTETZRE (c) Transactions with related parties
BREEATHITIRHUT The following transactions occurred with related parties:
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BREMEBEARREEZERAA Provision of general administrative services
R —RITBURE from fellow subsidiaries and the immediate
holding company - 108
MEERRAE ﬁ H ESi= Operating lease charges paid to fellow
TR EHRER subsidiaries in respect of a warehouse
and an office 528 497
PR HES WA ﬁ — MR XK B AR Operating lease charges received from
WEEEHER a fellow subsidiary in respect of
machineries rental income 2,400 -
PR GTIERZ G ERZBRETT The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices
between transacting parties.
(d SRITME (d) Banking facility

R=ZZT—h&E+=-_A=+—H A&H
EAR—E2HEREEHNERER

R 77 @ &8,000,000% 7t ( — :—:f}\i
8,000,000% 7T ) A AR A R EHE A
}%ﬁaﬁﬁﬁ?%%(:?*/\ﬁ%Hﬁ)fﬁ&
ﬁo

As at 31 December 2019, the bank facility of the Group in relation
to a standby letter of credit to a vendor of US$8,000,000 (2018:
US$8,000,000) were supported by corporate guarantees given by
the Company and its subsidiaries (2018: same).
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34 ERTzHBMRRKRRAEERZE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

RN Al 2 B AR R & Statement of financial position of the Company
R+=—A=+-—8H
As at 31 December
S —E-N\F
2019 2018
B at FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
EE Assets
IRBEE Non-current assets
BB RRIZKE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
JE Wi Bt /B8 2 B FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 119,711 124,290
_________________ 119,721 124,300
REEE Current assets
ENRIEREZES Prepayments and deposits 382 380
BReRkReZEED Cash and cash equivalents 112 110
__________ 494 490
wEE Total assets 120,215 124,790
s Equity
AAREBEAELES Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
[N Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
& 17 4 (B Share premium (a) 183,006 183,006
RETEE Accumulated losses (a) (68,571) (64,050)
4 Total equity 119,122 123,643
=R Liabilities
REAE Current liabilities
TR EH Accruals 1,093 1,147
mEmRAE Total equity and liabilities 120,215 124,790
RATZHBRARLEEEN T _TF= The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
AT HBZEYHTNIEERRESFEEE Board of Directors on 20 March 2020 and was signed on its behalf
HMFERE BERXE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
EF EFE
Director Director

166 MEBERZEREMRAT CircuTech International Holdings Limited



=]

B} 75 SR ZR BT 5E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 RXATZHBRRERRAEEEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(%)

(a) FRBAZHEELD

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continueqd)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

% 17 5 8 ZitER st

Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
F&ET F&T Fi&T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-—NF—H—H At 1 January 2018 183,006 (46,789) 136,217
AEEERE Loss for the year - (17,261) (17,261)
RZZ—NE+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 183,006 (64,050) 118,956
RZE—-—NF—H—H At 1 January 2019 183,006 (64,050) 118,956
AEEFEERE Loss for the year - (4,521) (4,521)
R=ZF—hE+=-HA=+—HB At 31 December 2019 183,006 (68,571) 114,435

35 REHWRERE

HAE AR S (COVID-19) B BEE I EEIT

COVID-19B H AN EBEM XK L EEN T E
?/E.%iﬁHM&EAF TEIG B e R 1B ;ETFEJ
E"]‘El/

RNEEEZ Y ERICOVID-19M 3 E R
&ﬁuﬂ*ﬂﬁxmﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂtxﬂxzﬁ«%iﬁ
RHFE - HEREBH FEDEET

%E@%Z%‘%%@Tﬁﬁﬁﬂt HASERAKEEE

IR 8 % B IR S 4 A ) 4 B R B AE UL
ﬁﬂ/i%u/\@ﬁﬁr WHEHRAEE T —FF
MEIN R B HRA D R -

35 EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

The outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) continues to spread
across the world.

The COVID-19 has impact on the business operations of the Group
and the degree of the impact depends on the situation of the epidemic
preventive measures and the duration of the epidemic.

The Group will monitor the developments of COVID-19 situation closely,
assess and react actively to its impacts on the financial position
and operating results of the Group. Up to the date of the report, the
assessment is still in progress.

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, the related impact on
the Group’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition could not be reasonably estimated at this stage and will be
reflected in the Group’s 2020 interim and annual financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUNMMARY
e RESULTS
H=E HE
—E-RF ZT—RF
N A +=A
=+A SEr=1
WEFE 1ENEA
For the BE+-—BA=1+t—HLFE
For the  Six months For the Year ended 31 December
Year ended ended Z—ZZE—tF ZT-)\F ZE-hF
30 June 31 December
2016 2016 2017 2018 2019
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
KA Revenue 26,070 9,530 98,966 299,109 332,884
BRATSR AT (BB) 5 F (Loss)/profit before income tax (8,755) (7,535) (12,892) (13,772) 3,379
Fris Rl % Income tax expenses - - (322) (834) (890)
AEE/BE (B1R) S&H (Loss)/profit for the year/period (8,755) (7,535) (13,214) (14,606) 2,489
BHINIATEIEREE,/ (Loss)/profit for the year/period
B (B18) /%5 attributable to:
S UNETEZ ZE DN - Owners of the Company (8,693) (7,517) (13,210) (14,601) 2,489
—JEIER - Non-controlling interests (62) (18) (4) (5) -
(8,755) (7,535) (13,214) (14,606) 2,489
EENEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
n i
ZE-RF ZE—RF
~A +—A
=hE| =+—H R+=—HA=+—8H
As at As at As at 31 December
30 June 31 December Z=—Z—+F ZZT—-N\F ZZE-hF
2016 2016 2017 2018 2019
FET T FAET T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
WEE Total assets 72,907 65,862 218,188 147,912 150,685
BEE Total liabilities (2,639) (2,994) (70,047) (16,310) (17,320)
70,268 62,868 148,141 131,602 133,365
HTIIALTEEZEARHE: Capital and reserves
attributable to:
SV UNETEZ ZE DN — Owners of the Company 70,744 63,330 148,645 132,093 133,860
— IR — Non-controlling interests (476) (462) (504) (491) (495)
70,268 62,868 148,141 131,602 133,365
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